The role of platelets in the pathogenesis of and immunity to helminth infections

By

Jonathan Pollock

A dissertation submitted in full fulfilment for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine (Research) (Clinical Science and Immunology)

> Supervisor: Assoc Prof. William Horsnell Co-supervisor: Dr. Matthew Darby

> > Faculty of Health Sciences University of Cape Town



The copyright of this thesis vests in the author. No quotation from it or information derived from it is to be published without full acknowledgement of the source. The thesis is to be used for private study or non-commercial research purposes only.

Published by the University of Cape Town (UCT) in terms of the non-exclusive license granted to UCT by the author.

DECLARATION

I, *Jonathan Pollock*, hereby declare that the work on which this dissertation/thesis is based is my original work (except where acknowledgements indicate otherwise) and that neither the whole work nor any part of it has been, is being, or is to be submitted for another degree in this or any other university.

I empower the university to reproduce for the purpose of research either the whole or any portion of the contents in any manner whatsoever.

I have used the **Nature** citation style for citation and referencing. Each contribution to, and quotation in, this Master's dissertation from the work(s) of other people has been attributed, and has been cited and referenced.

This thesis/dissertation has been submitted to the Turnitin module and I confirm that my supervisor has seen my report and any concerns revealed by such have been resolved with my supervisor.

Signature: Signed by candidate

Date: 11 February 2022

Acknowledgements

I would first like to express my sincere thanks to my supervisor William Hornell for giving me the opportunity to take on this project and for always standing by with thoughtful input and advice – I have had a great time in your lab and have learned a tremendous amount.

I am also incredibly grateful to my co-supervisor and co-conspirator Matthew Darby for all his help and guidance with experimental work – I honestly have never met a more patient person in my life.

Then, to all the other members of the Horsnell lab: Tatenda, Claire, Malika, Millie, A'ishah and Ally– thank you for all the various ways that you have helped me over the last couple of years – we made a great team.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank the NRF and UCT for providing me with the funding and resources necessary to support this project.

And finally, my deepest thanks go out to my friends and family for your unconditional love and support – I am very fortunate to have you.







Abstract

Background: Platelets are small, anucleate cells which circulate in blood and are often the first to respond to tissue damage and vascular inflammation caused by pathogens. Here they not only maintain tissue integrity and prevent bleeding, but also initiate and regulate a vast variety of immunologic responses. Little is known on the role of platelets in helminth infections, despite our understanding that many helminth species cause significant vascular pathology as they transfer from the circulatory system to diverse tissues as part of their life cycles. Based on previous studies showing tight association between platelets and innate immune responses during infection with other pathogens, we hypothesized that platelets significantly contribute toward acute (vascular) immunity to helminth infection.

Objectives: This project aimed to investigate the role of platelets in regulating acute innate immune responses following infection with the murine gastro-intestinal nematode *N. brasiliensis* (Nb), commonly used to model human helminthiases. Specifically, it aimed to characterized platelet-regulated responses involved in acute innate immunity during the pulmonary stage of infection, in which larvae exit the pulmonary vasculature and invade host lung tissue.

<u>Methods:</u> C57BL/6mice were infected with 500 L3 Nb larvae, and the association of platelets with acute innate immune responses in the circulation and the lung were established by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry. In further experiments, mice were depleted of their platelets using antibodies prior to infection with Nb and the effect of this on pulmonary pathology and innate immune responses was inferred from flow cytometric and histologic analyses of pulmonary tissues. Lastly, antibodies were used to interfere with platelet receptors during Nb infection to gain mechanistic insight into platelet regulation of neutrophil responses.

<u>Results:</u> Infection with *N. brasiliensis* was associated with significant changes in the activation of platelets, their localisation into lung tissue and their interaction with innate immune cells. Additionally, platelet -immune cell interaction was associated with changes in the expression of factors known to play a role in driving the early immune response to Nb, including IFN- γ and RELM- α .

Furthermore, mice depleted of their platelets prior to infection had significantly enhanced pulmonary pathology and rapidly succumbed to infection. This was associated with significant changes in neutrophil responses, and depletion of neutrophils together with platelets significantly protected against enhanced pathology.

Finally, direct and indirect targeting of the platelet receptors CD62P and CLEC-2 did not result in significantly enhanced pulmonary pathology but was associated with altered platelet and neutrophil responses.

<u>Conclusion</u>: Herein, we have provided evidence that platelets tightly associate with protective host responses during acute *N*. *brasiliensis* infection and that their absence correlates with a dysregulated neutrophil response and enhanced helminth – associated pulmonary pathology.

These data therefore collectively show that platelets play notable roles in the acute innate immune response to *N. brasiliensis* and that future investigations into the immunological functioning of platelets during helminth infection are warranted.

Table of Contents

| bstract | 4 |
|--|----------------------------|
| ist of abbreviations | 8 |
| hapter 1: Introduction | 10 |
| Platelets - essential regulators of haemostasis and thrombosis | 11 |
| Figure 1.1: Classical haemostasis versus inflammatory haemostasis | |
| Immunothrombosis and thrombo-inflammation : platelets bridge coagulation with in and immunity | nflammation 13 |
| Figure 1.2: Platelets coordinate with neutrophils and monocytes to induce immur | othrombosis |
| Platelets : vascular patrollers with broad immune function | 17 |
| Figure 1.3: Platelets express a variety of immune-associated receptors | 20 |
| Figure 1.4: Regulation of innate immune responses by platelets | 23 |
| Platelets in the context of pulmonary infection and inflammation. | 23 |
| Helminthiases – a collection of neglected tropical diseases with global impact | 25 |
| Experimental models of helminth infection and an overview of the life cycle and clin of hookworms | ical features 27 |
| Figure 1.5. : The life cycle of hookworms such as N.brasiliensis | 27 |
| Immunology of hookworm infections | 28 |
| Figure 1.6 : The prototypical initiation of type 2 immune responses | |
| Figure 1.7: Host-tolerance mechanisms balance the neutrophil-mediated inflamm pulmonary helminth infection and contribute towards type 2 responses | ation during 32 |
| Platelets and helminth parasites | |
| Figure 1.8 : Proposed mechanism underlying the interference of primary haemost schistosomes | asis by33 |
| napter 2: Material and Methods | 35 |
| 2.1) Mice and experiments | |
| 2.1.1) Overview of major experiments | |
| 2.1.2) Analyses performed on collected tissues and serum | |
| 2.1.3) Antibody treatments | |
| 2.1.4) N.brasiliensis infection | |
| 2.2) Flow cytometry | 41 |
| 2.2.1) unsupervised analysis using t-SNE | |
| 2.2.2) Flow cytometry of lung cells | 42 |
| 2.2.3) Flow cytometry of cardiac blooc | 43 |
| 2.2.4) Gating strategies | 45 |
| 2.4) Microscopy | |

| 2.4.1) Stereomicroscopy |
|--|
| 2.4.2) Histology and immunohistochemistry |
| 2.5) BAL assays |
| 2.6) Statistics |
| Chapter 3 : Results |
| Chapter 3.1 : |
| Establishing platelets as a component of the acute innate immune response to N.brasiliensis53 |
| Figure 3.1.1: Platelets become activated following Nb infection and localise to extravascular lung compartments |
| Figure 3.1.2: Early Nb infection is characterised by a circulatory neutrophil response |
| Figure 3.1.3: Early Nb infection involves recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils to the lung |
| Figure 3.1.4: Platelets interact with immune cells in the lung during pulmonary Nb infection61 |
| Figure 3.1.4: Platelets interact with immune cells in the lung during pulmonary Nb infection63 |
| Figure 3.1.6 CD41 positive and negative neutrophils represent distinct subsets with altered phenotype |
| Figure 3.1.7: CD41 positive and negative lung neutrophils differentially express RELM-alpha67 |
| Chapter 3.2: |
| Establishing a model of Nb infection in platelet depleted mice and evaluating the role of platelets in protection to Nb-associated pulmonary pathology |
| Figure 3.2.1: Platelet depletion prior to infection with Nb results in markedly worsened pulmonary pathology70 |
| Figure 3.2.2: Platelet depletion prior to Nb infection is associated with changes in circulating immune populations and decreased levels of platelet-leukocyte complexes |
| Figure 3.2.3: Platelet depletion leads to minor changes in the pulmonary myeloid immune landscape74 |
| Figure 3.2.4: Platelet depletion significantly reduced the number of platelet-leukocyte aggregates in the lung76 |
| Figure 3.2.5: Circulatory neutrophils from platelet depleted mice are similar to CD41 (-) neutrophils |
| Figure 3.2.6: Lung neutrophils from platelet depleted mice have altered phenotype |
| Figure 3.2.7: Treatment with anti-Ly6G leads to significant reductions in circulatory and lung resident neutrophil populations85 |
| Figure 3.2.8: Co-depletion of platelets with neutrophils significantly decreases acute Nb- associated pathology in the lung |
| Chapter 3.3 : |
| Investigating potential mechanisms underlying platelet regulation of Nb-associated pulmonary pathology. |
| Figure 3.3.1: treatment with anti-CD62P partially disrupts platelet-neutrophil interaction91 |

| Figure 3.3.2: treatment with anti-CD62P prior to infection does not associate with changes in Nb –associated pathology93 |
|--|
| Figure 3.3.3: treatment with anti-podoplanin modestly alters platelet –neutrophil interaction and associates with altered neutrophil phenotype in the lung |
| Figure 3.3.4 : treatment with anti-podoplanin does not associate with increased Nb – associated pathology98 |
| Figure 3.3.5: dual treatment with anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin is associated with altered circulatory neutrophil and platelet responses during acute Nb infection |
| Figure 3.3.6: dual treatment with anti-podoplanin and anti-CD62P is associated with a trend for increased Nb –associated pulmonary pathology during acute infection |
| Chapter 4 : Discussion 104 |
| Chapter 3.1: Platelets are a feature of the acute innate response to N.brasiliensis infection and associate with the induction of protective responses 105 |
| Figure 4.1 : Platelet interaction with neutrophils during acute N.brasiliensis infection is associated with changes in their expression of IFN-y and RELM- α |
| Chapter 3.2 : Platelets are indispensable for the protection against Nb and neutrophil – associated pulmonary pathology |
| Figure 4.2 : The effect of platelet depletion and platelet-neutrophil co-depletion on pulmonary pathology during N.brasiliensis infection |
| Chapter 3.3 : Blockade of the platelet receptors CD62P and CLEC-2 during Nb infection associate with changes to platelet -neutrophil interaction and neutrophil phenotype |
| Figure 4.3 : Blockade of platelet receptors leads to changes in the interaction of neutrophils with platelets in the lung and is associated with alterations in neutrophil phenotype |
| Conclusion116 |
| Future work116 |
| Appendix119 |
| Figure 5.1: Nb infection is not associated with changes in circulatory platelet counts |
| Figure 5.2 : Immunohistochemical staining of CD41 in the lungs of Nb infected mice 121 |
| Figure 5.3: treatment with anti-CD41 leads to severe thrombocytopenia |
| Figure 5.4: Circulatory and lung neutrophils differentially express neutrophil receptors |
| References 124 |

List of abbreviations

| AAM | alternatively activated macrophages |
|--------|--|
| ADP | adenosine di-phosphate |
| ALI | Acute lung injury |
| APC | antigen presenting cell |
| AR | anthelmintic resistance |
| ARDS | acute respiratory distress syndrome |
| BAL | Broncho-alveolar lavage |
| CD41 | cluster of differentiation 41 |
| CD62P | cluster of differentiation 62 P |
| CLEC-2 | c type lectin-like receptor 2 |
| CLP | chitinase-like protein |
| CLRs | c-type lectin receptors |
| CXCL4 | CXC chemokine ligand 4 |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's modified Eagle Medium |
| DVT | deep vein thrombosis |
| EETs | eosinophil extracellular traps |
| FACS | fluorescence – activated cell sorting |
| FMO | fluorescence minus one |
| GrzB | granzyme B |
| H&E | Haematoxylin & Eosin |
| IFN-y | Interferon gamma |
| IL | interleukin |
| LDN | low-density neutrophils |
| LPS | Lipopolysaccharide |
| LPS | Lipopolysaccharide |
| Ly6G | Lymphocyte antigen 6 complex locus G6D |
| MDSC | myeloid-derived suppressor cells |

| MFI | mean fluorescence intensity |
|-----------------------|--|
| miRNAs | microRNAs |
| Nb | Nippostrongylus brasiliensis |
| NETs | neutrophil extracellular traps |
| NGS | next generation sequencing |
| Nippo | N. brasiliensis |
| Pam ₃ CSK4 | Pam3CysSerLys4 |
| PAMPs | pathogen-associated molecular patterns |
| PAR | Protease activated receptor |
| PBS | Phosphate buffered saline |
| PF-4 | platelet factor 4 |
| PFA | Paraformaldehyde |
| PRP | platelet rich plasma |
| RAGE | receptor for advanced glycation end products |
| RANTES | Regulated upon Activation, Normal T Cell Expressed and Presumably Secreted |
| ROS | reactive oxygen species |
| SARS-CoV 2 | severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 |
| SiglecF | Sialic-acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectin F |
| TGF-βR | Transforming growth factor β receptor |
| T _H 2 | T helper 2 |
| TLRs | Toll-like receptors |
| TNF-α | Tumor necrosis factor - α |
| TSLP | thymic stromal lymphopoietin |
| t-SNE | t-distributed stochastic neighbour embedding |
| vWF | von Willebrand Factor |

Chapter 1: Introduction

Platelets - essential regulators of haemostasis and thrombosis

Platelets are small, anucleate cells that circulate in large numbers in blood of mammals and play important physiologic roles in haemostasis and thrombosis, i.e., in the maintenance of proper blood flow and in the prevention of haemorrhaging at vascular lesions. The precise molecular and cellular mechanisms that platelets participate in and engage with to mediate their haemostatic and thrombotic functions are complex and involve a large number of proteins and lipid mediators. However, broadly speaking, their function as haemostatic cells relies principally on their interaction with exposed sub-endothelial matrix proteins, such as collagen or von Willebrand Factor ¹, and their capacity to mediate, both structurally and biochemically, the many proteolytic reactions involved in the coagulation cascade ².

"Classical" haemostasis

The interaction of platelets with specific endothelial cell proteins results in their activation and is seminal to downstream processes involved in primary haemostasis, in other words, in the aggregation of platelets at sites of vascular injury. Platelet-endothelial cell interaction is governed by specific integrins, most notably the glycoprotein (GP) GP VI and GP Ib-V-IX complexes ,which bind many different soluble and membrane-associated ligands ³. The engagement of platelet glycoprotein receptors with endothelial proteins elicits signal transduction pathways that mediate further processes and potentiate platelet activation³. In the specific context of haemostasis and thrombosis, these processes culminate in the release and secretion of a wide array of compounds stored in platelet granules, such as thromboxane A2 and ADP³ and specific changes in the conformation of platelet integrins, notably α_{IIb} - β_3 (GP-IIa-IIIb) ⁴. These events are co-ordinated by specific modifications to the plasma membrane of platelets, and heavily involve changes in the flux of calcium (Ca²⁺) ions and other secondary messenger molecules ¹. These in turn lead to significant changes in the arrangement of cytoskeletal proteins, and the formation of pseudopodia on the surfaces of activated platelets ⁵. The structural and morphological changes associated with platelet activation allow them to engage in distinct functions ⁶ adhere strongly to a variety of different cells, notably other platelets. Morphological differences in platelets also allow them to be distinguished into nascent or old platelets ⁶ and allow them to be differentiated from resting platelets, which have a discoid shape ⁷.

Once platelets become aggregated at lesions, they carry out pro-coagulant activities that result in, amongst other things, the generation of thrombin, which is a catalytic protein that plays key roles in the conversion of fibrinogen to fibrin. Fibrin is an insoluble scaffolding protein that, together with platelets and other cells, is an important constituent of developing thrombi² and is therefore crucial for haemostasis. Indeed, the dissolution of thrombi principally involves fibrinolytic processes, especially the degradation of fibrin by plasmin⁷.

In short, platelets maintain haemostasis by binding to disrupted endothelial cells, predominantly via adhesive glycoproteins, then inducing autocrine and paracrine signalling pathways that elicit further platelet aggregation, and finally by facilitating the proteolytic conversion of coagulation factors, which in turn mediate the generation and deposition of fibrin. These processes are collectively termed (classical) haemostasis , and are crucial for preventing haemorrhaging in tissues and organs in response to physical damage to blood vessels ¹.

Inflammatory haemostasis

In addition to preventing blood loss at vascular lesions with significant pathology, platelets also have critical function in maintaining haemostasis during inflammation (called inflammatory haemostasis), i.e. even in conditions where overt vascular damage is absent ⁸. Furthermore, as recent studies demonstrate, the mechanisms underlying inflammatory haemostasis are distinct from classical haemostasis (or thrombosis), both at the cellular and molecular level ⁸ (Figure 1.1). For example, it has been shown that the prevention of bleeding following LPS induced lung inflammation does not rely on GP-IIa-IIIb dependent platelet aggregation, but instead depends on other receptors, including the immunoreceptor tyrosine activation motif (ITAM)–containing receptors GPVI and CLEC-2⁹. Studies investigating the role of platelets in maintaining vascular integrity and haemostasis under disparate conditions, e.g. physical injury versus sterile inflammation, have therefore provided evidence that the role for platelets in mediating haemostatic processes is complex and that the mechanisms initiated depend on the physiological context. Furthermore, by exploring the nature of platelet as mediators of coagulatory processes under different conditions, our understanding of platelets has evolved. This has allowed us to recognise that

platelets not only perform haemostatic function, but also play significant roles in initiating and regulating inflammatory and immune processes.



<u>Figure 1.1:</u> Classical haemostasis versus inflammatory haemostasis. During classical haemostasis, subendothelial matrix proteins become exposed to the intravascular lumen. Platelets aggregate at sites of damage and, together with crosslinked fibrin, form thrombi in an α IIb β 3-dependent manner. Inflammatory haemostasis entails platelets sealing breakages in vessels caused by extravasating neutrophils and other leukocytes and does not depend on the activity of α IIb β 3. Figure created on Biorender.com.

Immunothrombosis and thrombo-inflammation : platelets bridge coagulation with inflammation and immunity

An evolutionary perspective

Haemocytes are nucleated granular cells that circulate in the blood of lower invertebrates, such as horseshoe crabs, and are thought to be the evolutionary precursors to mammalian

leukocytes ¹⁰. Where in vertebrates and higher organisms, blood leukocytes have become specialized and are morphologically and functionally distinct from one another, in lower invertebrates, haemocytes have broad physiologic and immune function (with a lower degree of specialisation ¹¹). As such, haemocytes are not only central to coagulation of the haemolymph and the sealing of breaches in the exoskeleton, but also function as bona fide immune cells and can phagocytose pathogens or produce factors that are cytotoxic to them ¹⁰. The biology of haemocytes can therefore provide important context to recent experimental data that clearly demonstrate that platelets, similar to haemocytes, play significant roles in mediating inflammatory and immunologic processes ¹².

Thrombo-inflammation

In line with our expanded understanding of platelet function, researchers have coined new terms to underscore the association of platelets with (vascular) inflammation. For example, the term "thrombo-inflammation", first used in the context of ischemia-reperfusion injury in models of stroke ¹³, describes the role of platelets in mediating inflammation in a manner independent of classical platelet aggregation (e.g. that which occurs during "classical" haemostasis)¹³. Central to our reframing of platelets in stroke and ischemia-reperfusion injury, were studies that explored the effect of platelet inhibition on disease progression. These showed that disease progression (driven principally by inflammatory responses) could be modulated through the inhibition of platelets and their receptors, without affecting bleeding risk ¹⁴. The results of these studies therefore suggested that platelets have important functions in these models , outside of their roles in haemostasis ¹³.

At the same time as researchers were beginning to uncover important roles for platelets in regulating inflammation during experimental stroke, others were functionally characterizing the response of platelets to direct stimulation with live pathogens or pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). An important seminal study in this regard (and which was also one of the first to use the term thrombo-inflammation), was a study by Blair et al. on the response of platelets to the TLR-2 agonist Pam₃CSK4 ¹⁵, in which they provided evidence that platelets functionally integrate signals received via toll-like receptors into classical inflammatory responses, including the production of reactive oxygen species and the formation of immune cell complexes ¹⁵.

It is now well established that platelets express a variety of pattern recognition receptors, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors(CLRs) and Sialic acid binding immunoglobulin type lectins (Siglecs), which collectively allow platelets to sense and respond to a diversity of infectious pathogens ¹⁶ and to induce (thrombo-) inflammatory responses (Figure 1.3). In accordance with this, the term thrombo-inflammation is therefore now used to describe the interaction between thrombotic and inflammatory processes in a variety of contexts, notably venous and arterial disorders and infectious disease ¹⁷.

Immunothrombosis

While the term thrombo-inflammation is typically used to describe patho-mechanisms that feature in conditions like deep-vein thrombosis (DVT) and infection ¹⁷ and that adversely impact the host, it is also clear that thrombo-inflammatory–like processes (that is, co-ordinated responses involving thrombosis and inflammation) can also have protective immunologic function. This is exemplified in the context of blood-borne infection where the formation of thrombi (particularly in micro vessels) plays important roles in the capture of invading pathogens and the prevention of systemic infection ¹⁸. As a result, in this context, the thrombosis that is elicited in response to infection is referred to as "immunothrombosis" ¹².

Immunothrombosis is now recognized as an important component of the intravascular innate response to a variety of pathogens, especially bacterial pathogens ¹⁸. Physiologically, immunothrombosis is thought to provide four key functions : firstly, as mentioned previously, it functions to restrain pathogen dissemination; secondly, it prevents tissue invasion by keeping pathogens in the circulation; thirdly, it concentrates antimicrobial effector proteins to promote pathogen killing and fourthly, it co-ordinates downstream immune responses by providing a strong localising stimulus, which includes leukocyte recruitment and fibrin deposition ¹⁸ (Figure 1.2).

Accordingly, immunothrombotic processes depend not only on platelets, but also the coordinated functioning of a variety of other immune cells, most notably granulocytes and mononuclear cells ¹⁹. Monocytes are major drivers in stimulating coagulatory (i.e. immunothrombotic) processes by providing tissue factor on their surface and on secreted micro-vesicles ²⁰. In contrast, neutrophils are typically thought to invoke thrombotic response through their production of neutrophil- extracellular traps (NETs)²¹, which are highly thrombogenic. The involvement of monocytes and neutrophils in coagulatory processes is additionally underscored by the fact that these cells also avidly interact with platelets, especially following infection ²². Other cells, such as eosinophils, also have important function in bridging coagulation with thrombosis and are heavily implicated in regulating both fibrin deposition as well as fibrinolysis ²³.

These examples illustrate the broad cellular and molecular connections that exist between coagulation and inflammation/ immunity, but, as recent studies have demonstrated, platelets not only functionally bridge these processes , but are also active participants in each ²⁴.



<u>Figure 1.2</u>: Platelets coordinate with neutrophils and monocytes to induce immunothrombosis. Major pathways involved in driving immunothrombosis, including neutrophil production of NETs and monocyte –mediated presentation of tissue factor .Figure adapted from Biorender.com. WPB = Weibel-Palade Bodies ; TNFa = Tumour Necrosis Factor α ; TLR4 = Toll-like receptor 4

Platelets : vascular patrollers with broad immune function

Platelets store and secrete an arsenal of compounds with immunologic function

The notion that platelets may play significant roles in immunity to infectious pathogens, and in sterile inflammatory conditions (some of which are now considered thromboinflammatory conditions) is not new, with seminal research showing platelets performing distinctly immunologic functions dating as far back as the 1970s²⁵. However, only recently, with the help of novel analytic tools, such as next generation sequencing (NGS) and massspectrometry, have researchers been able to fully explore the immunologic repertoire of platelets. High-throughput transcriptomic and proteomic studies in particular (which until recently were lacking due to methodological constraints) have shed light on the vast variety of soluble and receptor associated molecules and proteins that platelets store in their granules and which they release into the extracellular environment upon becoming activated ²⁶. Although many of these, as expected, are primarily involved in stimulating classic haemostatic functions, including procoagulant factors, such as Factor V, ²⁷ and ADP ²⁸, many compounds that platelets store are also associated with stimulating immune processes and can have potent immunomodulatory activity ²⁹. Examples of immuneassociated factors include cytokines such as IL-33 30 or TGF- β 31 , chemokines such as RANTES ³² or CXCL-4 (PF-4) , proteins with direct microbicidal properties, termed thrombocidins ³³ and miRNAs ³⁴, such as miR-126-3p ³⁵, among many more.

Most platelet-derived compound with immune functions are stored in platelet alpha granules, with platelet dense granules primarily containing small molecular mediators such as serotonin ²⁸ and platelet lysosomes typically containing enzymes and proteases ²⁶, which play a role in structuring extracellular matrix. Interestingly, recent studies have suggested that such immune factors may be packaged into distinct granules, and differentially secreted in the presence of specific environmental signals ³⁶. These studies help to explain how platelets can exert specific and context-dependent functions, even in the absence of a nucleus. For instance, while many studies have indicated that platelets have inherent pro-inflammatory activity, which is exemplified in many thrombo-inflammatory disorders ³⁷ other studies have clearly demonstrated their ability to induce anti-inflammatory processes, which are of particular relevance in cancer ³⁸.

Platelet populations are heterogenous

In line with studies showing that platelets induce context-dependent responses, evidence is emerging that the pre-cursor cells of platelets, megakaryocytes ²⁶, can differentiate into distinct subpopulations, e.g. in response to systemic inflammation ³⁹. The heterogeneity in megakaryocytes is in turn reflected in platelet populations as well. For example, studies demonstrate that specific sub-populations of platelets may be primed towards a pro-coagulant function, whereas others may be primed towards aggregation or secretion ⁴⁰

Moreover, sequencing studies, complimented by functional in vitro analyses suggest that there exists significant heterogeneity in platelet populations between different individuals, and that these differences may contribute significantly towards modulating pathophysiologic processes in a variety of diseases ⁴⁰. While some of this heterogeneity is genetically determined, as in the extreme cases of inherited platelet disorders ⁴¹, some of it stems from disease processes. For example, platelets from septic patients often develop platelet hyperactivation, leading to thrombo-inflammatory complications, which contribute significantly towards mortality risk ⁴². As a result of this, many clinical studies have now begun to use platelet-derived factors (typically platelet microparticles) as markers of inflammation or disease progression ⁴³.

Collectively, studies investigating platelet heterogeneity have provided crucial insight into the structural and molecular diversity inherent in platelet populations which in turn, impact on their functional specificity.

Platelets as effectors of immunity

Mechanistically, platelets function as immune cells in a variety of ways, and are heavily linked to both innate as well as adaptive immune responses ⁴⁴. For instance, similar to other innate immune cells, such as macrophages or granulocytes, platelets have been shown to take up invading pathogens ⁴⁵, produce cytokines ⁴⁶, release reactive oxygen species (ROS) and other compounds that have direct anti-microbial activity ⁴⁵ and activate complement ⁴⁷ and other innate signalling pathways (e.g. histamine release) ¹⁶.

The innate immune functions that platelets engage in are heavily dependent on the signalling of specific platelet receptors, most notably, those that detect PAMPs, e.g. TLR-4 ⁴⁸, and those that sense danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) ⁴⁹. Many of these receptors become exposed on the surfaces of platelets during platelet degranulation, when the membranes of alpha and dense granules fuse with platelet plasma membranes ²⁶, thereby modulating how and when platelets can respond to stimuli. Studies that have investigated the role of platelet receptors in platelets responses to a variety of PAMPs and classic platelet agonists like thrombin, have provided evidence that platelets also adopt distinct morphology, depending on the inciting stimulus ⁵⁰, giving them the ability to respond in a functionally distinct manner. In the context of infection, where platelets often function as first responders ⁵¹, their sensing of foreign pathogens and their products is associated with the initiation of an assemblage of (immunothrombotic) processes directed towards the prevention of pathogen dissemination and tissue invasion⁵².

The importance of platelets as innate sensors of pathogens and first responders is made clear by the fact that thrombocytopenic hosts (that have abnormally low platelet counts) are generally characterised as having impaired acute responses and often develop severe infections, usually as a result of the systemic dissemination of pathogens ⁵³.

By engaging in these mechanisms, platelets directly contribute towards immune functions and influence infection outcome. However platelets also have significant immunomodulatory capacity and regulate the activity of a plethora of other immune cells ⁵⁴.



<u>Figure 1.3</u>: Platelets express a variety of immune-associated receptors. TLR = Toll-like receptors ; CLR = C-type lectin receptors ; NLRs = NOD-like receptors .Figure adapted from ⁴⁸ Platelets as regulators of immunity

One of the primary mechanisms through which platelets exert regulatory activity is through their direct interaction with target cells ⁵⁵. These interactions are associated with a vast assortment of effects and lead to functional changes in both platelets as well as in the cells that they bind to ⁵⁶. The main target cells that platelets interact with in the context of inflammation and immunity are endothelial cells and immune cells, especially neutrophils and monocytes ⁴⁴.

The interaction of platelets with endothelial cells supports a number of important processes involved in modulating inflammation, most notably, changes to vascular permeability ³² and the enhancement of leukocyte trafficking and infiltration into tissues ⁵⁷. In agreement with this, various studies, using a number of different models, have shown that platelet deficiencies can lead to aberrant vascular integrity ⁵⁸ and impaired leukocyte recruitment ⁵⁹ during condition of inflammation or infection.

Which populations are specifically recruited by platelets, and to what degree their recruitment depends on platelet receptors and soluble factors (such as P-selectin ⁶⁰ and serotonin ⁶¹) is however, dependent on the precise physiological context. In general, platelet-mediated leukocyte recruitment will either involve platelets aggregating at sites of

20

vascular damage, and presenting adhesive molecules (e.g. P-selectin) on their surfaces ⁵⁸, or through platelet-dependent expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin and other adhesive receptors involved in facilitating leukocyte rolling and binding, on the surfaces of endothelial cells ⁶².

In addition to playing critical roles in the recruitment of immune populations, platelets also interact with leukocytes from both adaptive ⁶³ and innate immune ²² branches to regulate (and initiate) their immune effector functions (Figure 1.4). Indeed the appearance of platelet-leukocyte complexes (also commonly referred to as platelet-leukocyte aggregates) is a characteristic feature of many inflammatory conditions⁵². Most interactions between platelets and leukocytes rely on engagement of platelet P-selectin (also known as CD62P) with leukocyte PSGL-1, including platelet-neutrophil ⁶⁴, platelet-monocyte ⁶⁵ and plateleteosinophil⁶⁶ interaction. However, as recent studies indicate ⁶⁷, other platelet and leukocyte receptors also play significant roles in facilitating interaction, including platelet GP-IIb-IIIa, GP-Ib , CD40L and CLEC-2, which associate with leukocyte SLCA42⁶⁷, CD11b ⁶⁸, CD40 ⁶⁹and podoplanin¹⁷ respectively. Under abnormal conditions (e.g. change in flow shear or during vascular inflammation) interactions between platelets and leukocytes, which typically involve only transient contact, become consolidated via the receptor-ligand pairs mentioned above to induce immune responses, for example, the expression of cytokines ⁴⁸. Platelet-regulation of cytokine expression has now been reported to occur in a variety of contexts and constitutes an important mechanism through which platelets exert regulatory function⁷⁰.

Investigations into platelet-neutrophil crosstalk have revealed that platelet-signalling can enhance neutrophil phagocytosis ⁷¹, modulate the release of ROS ⁷² and induce (and regulate) the formation of NETs⁷³. As such, platelet-neutrophil interaction is implicated in many thrombo-inflammatory and infectious contexts, where neutrophil- mediated inflammation is a major pathophysiologic parameter. In line with this, several experimental studies have indicated that direct interference of platelet-neutrophil interaction can lead to reduced neutrophil-mediated immunopathology in a variety of conditions^{62 74}. In comparison, the inhibition of platelet-neutrophil interaction in contexts where neutrophils are known to play protective roles, has not been well studied ⁷⁵.

Interactions of platelets with monocytes and macrophages are also associated with potent changes in their effector functions. Platelets and platelet-derived factors can drive monocyte expression of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6⁷⁶, enhance phagocytosis of pathogens and steer the polarization of macrophages towards a more proinflammatory phenotype⁷⁷, or a more anti-inflammatory phenotype, depending on the context. For example, platelets have also been shown to act as negative regulators of inflammation mediated by macrophages in the lung, thereby aiding in protection against excessive tissue damage⁷⁸.

While less well defined, platelets have also been shown to interact with other immune cells, including eosinophils and lymphocytes to regulate their function ^{63,66} and evidence is accruing that platelets may have significant roles in allergy ⁷⁹ and adaptive immunity ⁸⁰. For instance, platelet-eosinophil interactions have been shown to support eosinophil recruitment during allergic airway inflammation⁶⁶ and to drive thrombosis via induction of eosinophil-extracellular traps (EETs) ⁸¹.

The association of platelets with lymphocytes , including T and B cells on the other hand, have been demonstrated to play important roles in lymphocyte recruitment ⁸² and also in the differentiation of both T and B cells into specific subpopulations ⁸³. Platelets have even been shown to function as antigen presenting cells in certain contexts, stimulating the induction of specific T and B cell responses by presenting both antigen, and co-stimulatory molecules on their surfaces ⁸³.

Collectively, these data suggest an important role for direct platelet interaction with leukocytes as a mechanism underlying the regulation of immune responses, especially in the context of infectious diseases. However, these interaction are also sensitive to the physiologic microenvironment in which they occur, and therefore, our understanding of platelets as immune cells is presently defined to specific anatomical and physiological settings. One of the more well-researched anatomical contexts in this regard (and which is most directly relevant to this project) is the pulmonary system.



<u>Figure 1.4</u>: Regulation of innate immune responses by platelets. Platelets interact with immune cells such as monocytes to regulation their activation, differentiation, cytokine production and effector functions. Figure adapted from ⁷⁰

Platelets in the context of pulmonary infection and inflammation.

The lung as a hub of platelet activity

The pulmonary system, which broadly consists of the trachea, the bronchi and the alveoli is regularly exposed to foreign particles, both innocuous and pathogenic, and is an important site of immune activity. While the physiology of the lung is heavily adapted to its role in exchanging gases from the circulation with those in the environment, recent evidence is emerging that the precise (vascular) architecture of the lung also supports the formation of hematopoietic niches, that may play significant roles in driving the production of circulatory immune populations ⁸⁴. In particular, a landmark recent study provided evidence that the lung is an important of site of platelet biogenesis, and is essential to maintaining platelets

populations , both under normal , as well as abnormal conditions ⁸⁵. The findings of this study, in conjunction with the unique (highly vascularized) anatomy of the lung, means it is unsurprising that research continues to emerge on the importance of platelets in regulating lung function, especially in the context of pulmonary inflammation and infectious disease.

Platelets drive pulmonary inflammation but also protect against tissue damage

It is now well recognized that platelets have significant activity in an array of inflammatory lung conditions, ranging from acute infection to chronic sterile inflammation ⁸⁶.

Much of the evidence implicating platelets in pulmonary inflammation (and associated conditions) derive from experimental studies using animal models of acute lung injury (ALI), pulmonary infection and allergic airway inflammation ⁸⁶.These models replicate important pathological features of clinically relevant lung inflammatory syndromes, most notably acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and have been essential in establishing various features related to the immunobiology of platelets. In particular, they have revealed that platelets, in addition to mediating important physiologic functions during vascular inflammatory processes. They impact on these processes via the same immune mechanisms described previously: through production of cytokines and chemokines, through regulation of leukocyte trafficking and effector functions, through complement activation, through regulation of histamine release etc ^{22,70,88}.

Whether the outcome of platelets performing these immune functions is ultimately beneficial or detrimental to the host seems to depend on the precise context. For instance, within studies looking at the role of platelets in pulmonary infection, platelets are generally characterised as playing protective roles, either aiding in maintaining lung integrity ⁸⁹ or directly contributing towards antimicrobial responses that prevent systemic dissemination ⁵³.

On the other hand, in the context of ALI and other conditions that predispose to ARDS, such as in aspiration of acid or hypoxia, platelets are typified as pro-inflammatory cells that become sequestered in lung tissue and which contribute towards diffuse alveolar damage ^{62,90}. The pathological roles of platelets in ALI are suggested by studies that demonstrate

that depletion of platelets (with the use of antibodies or through genetic means) or their pharmacological inhibition is associated with improved indices of lung pathology, and this is thought to be due to platelet regulation of neutrophil responses ⁹¹. Platelets are also thought to play detrimental roles in allergic airway inflammation and asthma ⁹², in particular, by inducing and regulating eosinophil function ⁶⁶.

In aggregate, these findings suggest that platelets, similar to other innate immune cells such as neutrophils, play crucial roles in containing pathogens in the lung, but may also contribute significantly towards tissue destruction, thereby facilitating the progression to severe pulmonary inflammation such as that which occurs during ARDS. Platelets can therefore be considered in many instances to function as a double-edged sword. This is particularly evident in pulmonary viral infection, including with SARS-CoV 2, where platelets both contribute towards host control of viral replication, as well as drive coagulopathy and pathologic inflammation ⁹³.

This once again highlights the importance of scrutinising the pathophysiologic context in which platelets are performing their function , especially in light of recent studies which have demonstrated that platelets may also have significant anti-inflammatory (and protective) activity in the lung, particularly through their regulation of resident macrophages responses⁹⁴. These recent findings emphasise the value of investigating platelets in a wide variety of infectious and non-infectious contexts to further clarify their immunologic function. In this regard, it is noteworthy, that much of the focus of platelet research, specifically in the realm of pulmonary infection, has centred on bacterial and viral infections, with few studies explicitly investigating the role of platelets in mediating pulmonary immunity to parasitic infections ⁹⁵. Helminthiasis in particular, many of which involve the lung an important site of host-pathogen interaction, have not been studied with regard to platelet-mediated immunity⁹⁵.

Helminthiases – a collection of neglected tropical diseases with global impact

Helminths are parasitic worms that are an extremely common source of infection globally, causing widespread morbidity and contributing significantly towards the loss of healthy life years (HALYs) worldwide ⁹⁶. Recent estimates suggest that as many as 1.5 billion individuals carry helminth parasites, with the highest prevalence of infection occurring within sub-

Saharan Africa, Latin - and South America and the pacific islands of Asia ⁹⁷. As such, helminth infections are generally associated with developing nations, although areas with low socioeconomic standing in developed countries may also be significantly affected⁹⁸. This association is thought to be driven primarily by poor access to adequate water, sanitation, and hygiene in these areas. This is especially true for soil-transmitted helminths (STH) infections, where exposure typically entails either peroral or percutaneous infection⁹⁹. STHs comprises mainly 4 types of helminth parasites, with broad global distribution and relevance, namely roundworms (especially A. lumbricoides), whipworms (most notably T. trichuris), hookworms (including A. duodenale and N. americanus) and threadworms (most commonly *S. stercoralis*). Collectively, these helminth parasites are involved in the majority of human helminthiases and have therefore received the most attention with regard to epidemiological and clinical research efforts and public health interventions ⁹⁹. Outside of improving public infrastructure and bettering access to clean water and bathrooms, public health control measures have centred on the mass administration of anthelmintics to at-risk populations living in helminth endemic areas. While anthelmintics have been effective in curbing the prevalence and severity of infections caused by STH , they do not offer long lasting protection and due to the small number of classes of anthelminthics, are prone to emerging resistance¹⁰⁰. Indeed, widespread anthelmintic resistance (AR) is already common for helminth species that parasitise livestock and other economically important animals¹⁰⁰, which has resulted in veterinarians and parasitologists adopting a more targeted approach with regard to the use of anthelmintics for veterinary purposes ¹⁰⁰. While these have proven to be successful, they have yet to be widely incorporated into treatment strategies used to combat human helminthiases ¹⁰⁰. Facing this, vaccines against helminths will likely be essential for future management of helminth infections. Presently, only veterinary helminth vaccines, which target specific species have been successfully deployed, with human vaccines, while under clinical development, currently lacking ¹⁰¹. This is in part due to the complex biology and life cycle of helminth parasites, which in most cases consist of several larval and adult stages, each with their own proteome and metabolome, and the complex migratory patterns involved in many helminthiases. A further hindrance is our incomplete understanding of the molecular and cellular interactions that govern hostpathogen interplay, especially at very early stages of infection ¹⁰².

Experimental models of helminth infection and an overview of the life cycle and clinical features of hookworms

Animal models of helminth infection, most notably rodent models, have been indispensable for furthering our understanding of these complex pathogens as they parasitise their hosts. Three nematode species are commonly used as models for human intestinal-nematode infections in mice as they have broadly similar genetic and antigenic characteristics ¹⁰³ : *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis* (the helminth used within this project) *, Heligmosomoides bakeri* and *Trichuris muris*. Each model is useful for replicating the pathology and immunity induced by important human parasites ¹⁰⁴. For example, *N.brasiliensis* has a very similar life cycle to the prevalent human hookworms *A. duodenale* and *N. americanus*, which broadly involves the following : firstly, the penetration of infective-stage larvae through primary barriers such as skin, and invasion of the hosts circulatory system; secondly, the transport of larvae to pulmonary capillaries and the migration of larvae out of the circulation and into lung tissue ; thirdly, the crawling of larvae up the trachea and into the larynx and finally, the swallowing of larvae into the small intestine , where final maturation and mating occurs ¹⁰⁵.



<u>Figure 1.5.</u> : The life cycle of hookworms such as N.brasiliensis. Figure created on Biorender.com.

As such, hookworm parasites (and other STH) encounter different physiological and anatomical environments as they infect their hosts. Owing to these differences, the separate stages of helminth infection may have either broadly similar or specific pathophysiologic features, which associate with distinct clinical sequelae ⁹⁹ .For instance, patients infected with hookworms may present with eosinophilic pneumonia (also called Löffler's syndrome, which results from larval migration through the lung) and symptoms such as cough, dyspnoea and haemoptysis, or (more commonly) they may present with gastrointestinal symptoms, including abdominal pain, diarrhoea and melaena ¹⁰⁶, which results from parasite-mediated intestinal inflammation and pathology. Severely infected individuals and those that are more susceptible to infection, including children, may also develop anaemia and nutritional deficiencies ¹⁰⁷. These, in turn, have been associated with significant developmental and cognitive impairment, and carry significant socioeconomic costs ¹⁰⁸. However, it is important to mention that most hookworm infections are asymptomatic ¹⁰⁹. This is believed to be a result of many factors, notably the kinetics of infection (in other words the number of parasites that infect humans in a natural environment), the extended co-evolution of helminths with humans (which has promoted the emergence of tolerogenic mechanisms) and the tightly co-ordinated immune responses that are elicited in infected hosts and which are heavily modulated by helminths and their products ¹¹⁰.

Immunology of hookworm infections

While the specific responses associated with immunity to hookworms such as *N.brasiliensis* depend in part on the stage of the infectious cycle and the anatomical and physiologic backdrop in which responses are occurring, they are largely driven and governed by type 2 associated cells, including group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s), eosinophils, T_H2 cells and alternatively activated macrophages (AAM), among others¹¹¹. These cells , which either reside in infected tissues or rapidly recruit to sites of parasite invasion through the sensing of innate cytokines and other alarmins produced from damaged epithelial and mucosal cells , notably IL-33, IL-25 and TSLP ¹¹², are the primary effectors of classical type 2 responses. These responses broadly centre around the type 2 associated cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 and

the downstream processes they elicit when they signal through their shared co-receptor IL-4Ra ¹¹³ (though IL-4 and IL-13 independent responses are also crucial in many instances¹¹⁴) (Figure 1.6). Of major relevance for the expulsion of parasites from the intestines are epithelial cell responses, including goblet and tuft cell hyperplasia ¹¹⁵ and the production of mucins and surfactants ¹¹⁶, which, together with smooth muscle contractions, function to dislodge parasites from the intestines and from other sites such as the lung ¹¹⁷. These responses also typically associate with the induction of adaptive immune responses, such as expansion of B cells ¹¹⁸ and CD4+ T cells ¹¹⁹ which are crucial for optimal type 2 immunity. As such , immunity to hookworm infections entails the co-ordinated interaction of a diversity of cells and their effector molecules and heavily involves both innate ¹⁰² and adaptive immune cell –mediated responses. These not only serve to elicit protection to invading helminth parasites but also to induce wound healing and tolerogenic ¹²⁰ responses that are crucial for preventing excessive helminth-associated tissue destruction ¹²¹. This is especially true in the lung , where dysfunctional type 2 responses are known to associate with markedly enhanced pathology ¹²¹.



<u>Figure 1.6</u>: The prototypical initiation of type 2 immune responses . Helminths encounter host barrier surface and cause tissue damage. This leads to the release of alarmins and cytokines that signal to barrier-associated cells such as ILC2s and $\gamma\delta$ T cells to produce factors that induce further innate responses, ultimately leading to the expression of type 2 cytokines and effector molecules which propagate the type 2 immune response. Figure adapted from ¹²².

Innate immune responses in the lung: a fine-tuned balance between parasite control and host immunopathology

At this stage many of the major features of immunity to hookworms, outlined above, are mechanistically well understood. However, an area in our understanding of hookworm infections that requires further attention revolves around the acute innate immune response that develops in the lungs during the pulmonary stage of infection. In humans, often children, pulmonary migration of larvae can result in significant eosinophilic pneumonia leading a clinical diagnosis of Löffler's Syndrome ¹²³, where severity correlates with infection intensity¹²⁴. While epidemiological investigations into helminth-associated pulmonary disease are sparse, a recent study by Jõgi et al. ¹²⁵ demonstrated that exposure to Ascaris lumbricoides (which, similar to hookworms, also transits the lung) was associated with pulmonary dysfunction ¹²⁵. Importantly, the participants of this study were from regions where prevalence of helminth parasites is relatively low ¹²⁶, and where transmission events are confined. This has significant implications for predicting the burden of pulmonary disease in helminth-endemic populations, where repeated exposure is common and infection intensity may be higher ¹²⁷. In conjunction with the fact that the lung also functions as an important site of activity during recall immunity ¹²⁸, an understanding of the factors and cells involved in driving host-pathogen interaction in this setting is crucial.

Within mice, the migration of helminth parasites out of the vasculature and into the lung parenchyma is accompanied by significant damage to lung capillaries and epithelium and results in allergy-like pathology ¹²⁹ and emphysema ¹³⁰. The initial inflammatory response that is elicited in the lung is driven by the production of alarmin cytokines and chitinase-like proteins (CLPs) from damaged epithelial cells ¹³¹. These in turn mediate the production of IL-

17a, primarily by $\gamma\delta$ T cells , which provides a strong chemotactic stimulus for innate immune cells, especially neutrophils ¹³². These rapidly begin to recruit to the lung and are present in significant numbers within 2 days post infection ¹³². While neutrophils play important roles in limiting larval migration, their influx into the lung has been shown to also drive immunopathology and is associated with significant pulmonary haemorrhaging ¹²¹ . In line with this, studies have revealed that the blockade of neutrophil chemotaxis to the lung during Nb infection , for instance , through blockade of IL-17a ¹³² , is associated with reduced pulmonary pathology and bleeding. Interestingly, reducing neutrophil counts only protects against acute pathology, with mice exhibiting enhanced pulmonary pathology at later stages of infection ¹³². This is consistent with neutrophils also playing protective roles in the lung through their induction of type 2 associated responses , notably , the priming and expansion of (M2) macrophages ¹³³. M2 macrophages, which respond to IL-4 and IL-13 ¹³³ and are typically characterized by their expression of arginase-1 ¹³⁴, resistin-like molecule α (RELM- α) ¹³⁵ and Ym1 ¹³⁶, are crucial effectors of immunity during pulmonary N.brasiliensis infection. They not only tightly co-ordinate with neutrophils to mount rapid anti-parasitic responses ¹³³, but are also indispensable for stimulating wound healing processes and for protection from excessive lung damage ^{137,138}. And together with IL-4Ra signalling ¹²¹, M2 macrophages also serve to limit excessive inflammation ¹³⁹. In many ways they can therefore be considered as counterbalancing the inflammatory response elicited to tissue damage caused by migrating larvae and infiltrating neutrophils ¹⁰². This is especially evident in their uptake of apoptotic neutrophils ¹⁴⁰ and in their ability to integrate a diversity of signals from the microenvironment into protective responses ¹⁴¹. M2 macrophages, together with dendritic cells also markedly impact on type 2 cell-mediated immunity at stages immediately downstream of acute helminth infection ¹⁴² and also play, together with CD4+ T cells ¹⁴³ and B cells ¹¹⁸, crucial roles in recall immunity ¹³³.

Taken together, it is clear that the interaction between macrophages and neutrophils has profound consequences for immunity to helminth parasites and for recovery from the damage that they cause as they migrate through the lung. Many of the factors that mediate this interaction, and therefore impact on balancing anti-parasitic responses with tolerogenic responses, are now known (Figure 1.7). However, a notable gap in our understanding, which we partially address within this project, are the role that platelets play in this immunologic landscape.



<u>Figure 1.7</u>: Host-tolerance mechanisms balance the neutrophil-mediated inflammation during pulmonary helminth infection and contribute towards type 2 responses. Factors released during pulmonary helminth infection can be principally characterised based on their association with either tissue damage or tolerance mechanisms. IGF-1 = Insulin-like growth factor 1; Arg1 = Arginase 1. Figure adapted from ¹²⁰

Platelets and helminth parasites

Our understanding of the role of platelets in helminth infection, as in many other parasitic infections, is very limited. Although it has long been appreciated that many helminth parasites, including diverse species of hookworms ^{144,145} and flatworms ¹⁴⁶, produce factors that interfere with platelet function, few studies have empirically investigated how platelets contribute towards immunity to helminth infections. This is despite an understanding that the interference with haemostasis is an immune evasion strategy that is represented in

many other types of infections , and likely contributes to allowing helminths to parasitise their hosts for extended periods of time ¹⁴⁶. This is underscored by the observation that many helminths, especially schistosomes, have evolved multiple distinct mechanisms to interfere with platelet (haemostatic) function¹⁴⁶ (Figure 1.8).



<u>Figure 1.8</u>: Proposed mechanism underlying the interference of primary haemostasis by schistosomes. Schistosome-derived regulatory factors are outlined in the blue boxes. Stimulation is indicated by green arrows and inhibition by red lines. GPIb= glycoprotein Ib; HMWK = High-molecular-weight kininogen, PGI2 = prostacyclin ; SmAP = Schistosoma mansoni alkalinephosphatase, SmATPDase1= S.mansoni ATP-diphosphohydrolase-1, SmPDE = Schistosoma mansoni phosphodiesterase ; VWF = von Willebrand Factor. Figure adapted from Mebius et al., ¹⁴⁶

In agreement with this, animal studies have also suggested that platelets may also have direct cytotoxic effects on helminth larvae. For instance , seminal experiments carried out by Joseph et al. ¹⁴⁷ demonstrated that the culturing of platelets with schistosomula (schistosome larvae) lead to significant declines in parasite viability and that this effect was enhanced when the larvae were cultured with platelets from mice that had robust antischistosome immunity. While the precise mechanism underlying platelet-mediated cytotoxicity requires further clarification, inflammatory cytokines , including IFN-γ and IL-6, and plasma proteins , such as C-reactive protein (CRP) are thought to be involved, especially in the priming of platelets ¹⁴⁸. In vivo cytotoxicity of platelets towards schistosomula was also demonstrated in subsequent studies, in which both the heterologous transfer of

primed platelets ¹⁴⁹ as well as the depletion of platelets using anti-platelet serum ¹⁵⁰ resulted in marked differences in worm burdens in *S. mansoni* infected mice.

Taken together, these studies have provided evidence that platelets constitute an important barrier to schistosome infection, however, mechanistic insight is lacking, especially in the in vivo setting. Moreover, given the distinct pathophysiologic features involved in schistosomiasis and the fact that schistosome larvae have a different life cycle relative to many other helminth species, it remains unclear whether platelets also play significant roles in other helminth infections. As such, it is clear that more research is required into the roles that platelets play in helminth infection, particularly with regard to STH infections.

To the best of our knowledge, no other studies have addressed the role of platelets in the context of a gastrointestinal nematode infection.

The aim of this project is therefore three-fold:

- I) To establish if platelets are a feature of immunity to *N. brasiliensis* and to determine how platelets associate with acute immune responses.
- II) To ascertain whether the depletion of platelets with antibodies significantly disrupts platelet- dependent immune processes.
- **III)** To identify receptors and platelet-derived factors through which platelets may be exerting their immunologic function.

To infer a role for platelets in helminth infection, a range of experimental techniques including complex flow cytometry, immunohistochemistry and protein and DNA spectrophotometry were used.

Chapter 2: Material and Methods
2.1) Mice and experiments

All work with animals was performed as per the approved protocol (#018/041) and in accordance with guidelines laid down by the South African bureau of Standards and the South African Veterinary Council (SAVC). All para-veterinary procedures and animal handling were carried out by certified persons, and the welfare of the animals assured by animal technicians employed at the University of Cape Town's research animal facility (RAF).

All mice were procured through UCT RAF, were of the C57BL/6J genetic background, weighed 20+ grams, were between 8 and 12 weeks old and male. Animals were housed in specific pathogen-free conditions, at a temperature of 22± 2 degrees Celsius and a 12:12 light: dark cycle and provided with food and water *ad libitum*.

Experimental groups were as follows:

- 1) Naïve C57BL/6J mice
- 2) C57BL/6J mice infected with *N. brasiliensis* (Nb)
- 3) C57BL/6J mice treated with anti-CD41 antibody
- 4) C57BL/6J mice infected with Nb and treated with anti-CD41 antibody
- 5) C57BL/6J mice infected with Nb and treated with anti-CD62P antibody
- 6) C57BL/6J mice infected with Nb and treated with anti-podoplanin antibody

7) C57BL/6J mice infected with Nb and treated with anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin antibodies

Experiments that were performed on these mice include: **I)** A platelet kinetic experiment, in which mice infected with *N. brasiliensis* (Nb) and naïve mice (uninfected) were tail bled several times over the course of ten days. Platelet levels were then determined using flow cytometry). **II)** Several experiments in which mice were infected with Nb and then euthanised at either 18 hours, 2 days or 3 days post infection (where each of these time

points constitutes a separate experiment). Cardiac blood, broncho-alveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and lung was collected and analysed as described in 2.1.2). **III)** Several experiments in which mice were treated with (or weren't treated with) anti-CD41 antibody prior to being infected with Nb and then euthanised at 18 post infection. Cardiac blood, BALF and lung were collected and analysed as described in 2.1.2. **IV)** A set of experiments in which mice were treated with either anti-CD41, anti-Ly6G or a combination of both prior to infection with Nb. Cardiac blood, BALF and lung were collected and analysed as described with either anti-CD41, anti-Ly6G or a combination of both prior to infection with Nb. Cardiac blood, BALF and lung were collected and analysed as in 2.1.2. **V)** A series of experiments in which mice were treated with either anti-CD62P, anti-podoplanin or a combination of both antibodies prior to infection with Nb. Cardiac blood, BALF and lung were collected and analysed as described previously.

2.1.1) Overview of major experiments



<u>Figure 2.1</u>: Layout of experiments comparing naïve and Nb infected mice in terms of plateletassociated immune responses at various time points. Note, each time point constitutes a separate experiment.



Figure 2.2: Layout of experiments comparing acute innate immune responses to Nb in platelet depleted and non-depleted mice. Anti-CD41 antibodies were administered intraperitonially.



Figure 2.3: Layout of experiments comparing acute innate immune responses to Nb in platelet depleted, neutrophil depleted and co-depleted mice. Depleting antibodies were administered intraperitoneally.



<u>Figure 2.4</u>: Layout of experiments comparing acute innate immune responses to Nb in mice treated with antibodies against platelet receptors. Note: each antibody treatment constitutes a separate experiment. All antibodies were administered intraperitoneally.

2.1.2) Analyses performed on collected tissues and serum

As outlined in figures 2.1 - 2.4, following killing, cardiac blood, BAL fluid and whole lungs were collected. An overview of sampling methodology and analyses performed are outlined in figure 2.5. Cardiac blood was collected, processed, and analysed as outlined in 2.2.2. BAL was collected, processed, and analysed as outlined in 2.2.1.



<u>Figure 2.5:</u> Overview of the analyses performed on cardiac blood, BAL fluid and lung tissues samples.

2.1.3) Antibody treatments

To deplete mice of their platelets, select groups were treated with anti-CD41 antibody (Biolegend, clone eBioMWReg-30). An outline of the treatment strategy is given in figure 2.2. 5 μ g of anti- CD41 antibody were diluted in 100 ul of sterile PBS and injected intraperitoneally at 24 hours prior to- and then again shortly before - Nb infection. This dosing and treatment strategy lead to a more than 90 % decrease in circulating platelet levels (Appendix , figure 5.3) and is similar to doses used in previous studies ¹⁵¹.

This same treatment regimen was also used to deplete mice of their neutrophils (outlined in figure 2.3). In the case of these experiments, mice received 25 ug of purified anti-Ly6G (Biolegend, clone 1A8) at each treatment.

In further experiments mice were treated with antibodies to interfere with platelet receptor signalling – again, the same treatment regimen was used as in previous experiments (figure 2.4) . Anti-CD62P antibodies (BD biosciences, clone RB40.34) were administered at a dose of 25 ug per treatment. Anti-podoplanin antibodies (courtesy of Julie Rayes at the University of Birmingham, clone 8.1.1 RF10) were administered at a dose of 50 ug per treatment. These concentrations were also used for mice treated with a combination of antipodoplanin and anti-CD62P. Isotype antibodies were used as controls in experiments assessing the effects of anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin treatments.

2.1.4) N. brasiliensis infection

N. brasiliensis L3 (infective stage) larvae were collected from the faeces of Wister rats used for stock maintenance. Larvae were washed twice in sterile PBS and suspended to a final concentration of 2500 L3 larvae per 1 ml. Each mouse then received 500 L3 larvae through sub-cutaneous injection of 200 μ l of the prepared suspension.

2.2) Flow cytometry

Multicolour flow-cytometry was performed on lung and blood samples. After processing of samples, cells were treated with a cocktail of fluorophore- conjugated antibodies (tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3), stained and analysed. An outline of the processing and staining methodology is given in 2.2.1 (for lung cells) and 2.2.2 (for blood cells).

Flow cytometry was performed on a BD LSR Fortessa and acquisition analysis performed using FACS Diva software. For spectral unmixing, compensation beads were used (BD biosciences). Supervised and non-supervised (t-SNE) analyses were then conducted using FlowJo version 10 (Becton, Dickinson & Company). In the case of supervised analysis, gating was adjusted based on unstained and appropriate fluorescent – minus one (FMO) control.

2.2.1) unsupervised analysis using t-SNE

To gain oversight on broad qualitative differences in immune populations between experimental groups, t-SNE analysis was conducted. First, populations of interest (e.g., neutrophils) were manually gated out based on their expression of traditional immunophenotypic markers (see gating strategies in 2.2.6). Populations of interest were then downsampled using the in-built plugin in FlowJo v.10. Downsampling was performed to make uniform population sizes. The number of cells that were selected as downsampling parameters were specific to experiments and are outlined in figure 2.10 and 2.11. Following downsampling, the fcs files of individual populations were concatenated (i.e. combined) into a composite fcs file, on which t-SNE analysis was performed. T-SNE analysis was performed within FlowJo v.10 using the in-built t-SNE plugin. The default parameters were used for analysis. These included the following: 1000 iterations, a perplexity of 30 and a learning rate of 700. The markers used for t-SNE analysis are given in figure 2.10 and 2.11.

2.2.2) Flow cytometry of lung cells

Lungs were removed and sectioned into several parts, as outlined in figure 2.5. 2/3rd of the right lobes was stored in 2ml of complete media (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) solution supplemented with 5% foetal calf serum and 1X Penicillin/Streptomycin) (all purchased through Thermofischer). Single cell suspensions were then prepared by pressing lung sections through a 70 um cell strainer. Single cell suspensions were then centrifuged at 400 XG for 5 minutes. After removal of the supernatant, the remaining pellets were suspended in 1000 ul of ACK lysing buffer (Thermofischer) for 2 minutes before being centrifuged again for 5 minutes at 400 XG. Cells were then washed in PBS before being resuspended in 1 ml of complete media. For cell counting, 10ul of this suspension was mixed with 20 ul of Trypan blue and placed on an improved Neubauer counting chamber (Sigma-Aldrich). For flow cytometry, 1*10^6 cells were incubated with a cocktail of antibodies (Table 2.1) for 1 hour, in dark conditions. After staining, cells were washed, resuspended in 150 ul of MACS buffer (1X PBS, 0.5% BSA and 2mM EDTA) and analysed.

For intracellular cytokine staining (RELM- α) cells were first fixed and permeabilized in BD Cytofix/CytopermTM (BD Biosciences) for 20 minutes and washed twice in MACS buffer. Cells were then stained and analysed as outlined above. For intracellular staining of IFN-y (figure 3.2.6), washed blood cells were incubated in complete DMEM, containing 50ng/ml Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA; Sigma-Aldrich[®]) and 1 µg/ml Ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich[®]) for 4 hrs at 37°C, in the presence of 10 µg/ml brefeldin A (BFA; Sigma- Aldrich[®]). After stimulation, cells were washed at 400 XG in PBS and then fixed and permeabilized as detailed previously. Once fixed and permeabilized, cells were then washed twice in MACS buffer and finally, stained and analysed.

<u>Table 2.1:</u> Antibody cocktail used to analyse innate myeloid populations and plateletleukocyte complexes in single cell suspension of lung samples.

| Marker | Fluorophore | Manufacturer | Clone |
|------------|----------------------|--------------------------|-------------|
| CD45 | Alexa Fluor 700 | Biolegend | 30 - F11 |
| CD41 | PercP | Thermofischer | eBioMWReg30 |
| CD11b | Brilliant Violet 421 | Biolegend | M1/70 |
| Ly6G | APC-Cy7 | Biolegend | 1A8 |
| RELM-alpha | FITC | Santa Cruz Biotechnology | E-19 |
| SiglecF | PE | Biolegend | S17007L |
| CD11c | APC | BD Biosciences | HL3 |
| IFN-gamma | APC | Biolegend | XMG1.2 |

2.2.3) Flow cytometry of cardiac blood

To analyse circulatory innate immune responses 600-800 ml cardiac blood was taken from mice shortly after death. Blood was stored in 75ul (~10%) EDTA to prevent coagulation and kept at room temperature. Then, 150 ul of whole blood was aliquoted into new tubes for further processing. The rest of the blood was centrifuged at 180 XG for 10 minutes and then left to settle. This produces three distinct layers, with the top layer containing platelet -rich plasma (PRP). 50 ul of PRP of each sample was then transferred into a 96 well plate for further processing and the rest was stored at -20 degrees Celsius for downstream analysis.

To prepare for staining, whole blood aliquots were next treated with 850 ul of ACK lysis buffer, left to incubate for 2 minutes and then centrifuged at 400 XG for 5 minutes. After discarding of the supernatant, pellets were washed twice in 500 ul PBS, stained with antibodies (table 2.2) and suspended in 100 ul of MACS buffer. Finally, 50 ml of Precision Count Beads solution (Biolegend) were added to each sample before flow cytometric analysis and the number of leukocytes were analysed as per the manufacturer's instructions. For experiments in which intracellular cytokines were analysed (IFN-y and granzyme B), blood leukocytes were permeabilized and fixed as outlined in 2.2.1.

Similarly, to prepare PRP for staining, 250 ul of ACK lysing buffer were added to each well and left to incubate for 2 minutes, after which, cells were spun at 1000 XG for 5 minutes. After removal of the supernatant, cells were stained with 25 ul of an antibody cocktail (table 2.3) for 1 hour in the dark. After staining, cells were resuspended in 150 ul of MACS buffer. Finally, 50 ul of Precision Count Beads (Biolegend) solution were added to each sample and the samples were analysed and used to determine the number of platelets in each sample, as outlined above.

<u>Table 2.2</u>: Antibody cocktail used to analyse myeloid innate cells and platelet-leukocytes complexes in washed cardiac blood samples.

| Marker | Fluorophore | Manufacturer | Clone |
|------------|----------------------|---------------|-------------|
| CD45 | Alexa Fluor 700 | Biolegend | 30 - F11 |
| CD41 | PercP | Thermofischer | eBioMWReg30 |
| CD11b | Brilliant Violet 421 | Biolegend | M1/70 |
| Ly6G | APC-Cy7 | Biolegend | 1A8 |
| Ly6C | FITC | Biolegend | HK1.4 |
| IFN-gamma | APC | Biolegend | XMG1.2 |
| Granzyme-B | PE | Biolegend | QA16A02 |

Table 2.3: Antibody cocktail used to analyse platelets in PRP

| Marker | Fluorophore | Manufacturer | Clone |
|--------|-------------|--------------|-------------|
| CD41 | PercP | Biolegend | eBioMWReg30 |
| CD62P | PE | Biolegend | RMP1 |

2.2.4) Gating strategies



<u>Figure 2.6:</u> Gating strategy used for the determination of myeloid cell populations, and myeloid cell-platelet complexes in lung samples. Eosinophils were identified as being (CD45+, SiglecF+, CD11b+). Alveolar macrophages were identified as being (CD45+, SiglecF+, CD11b^{Io}). Monocytes were identified as being (CD45+, CD11b^{Hi}, SiglecF -, Ly6G -) or (CD45+, CD11b⁺, Ly6C+, Ly6G -). Neutrophils were identified as being (CD45+, CD11b^{Hi}, Ly6G +). Association of these immune populations with platelets was determined by CD41 positivity.



<u>Figure 2.7</u>: Gating strategy used for determination of myeloid cell populations and their association with platelets in cardiac blood samples. Eosinophils were identified as being (CD45+, CD11b+, Ly6G -, Ly6C^{Low}, SSC-A ^{Hi}). Monocytes were identified as being (CD45+, CD11b+, Ly6G - , Ly6C^{variable} , SSC-A ^{Low}). Neutrophils were identified as being (CD45+, CD11b+, Ly6C ^{int}, Ly6G^{Hi}). Association of these immune populations with platelets was determined by CD41 positivity.



<u>Figure 2.8</u>: Gating strategy used for the determination platelets in PRP. Platelets were gated as (SSC-A ^{Low,} FSC-A^{Low}, CD41 +). Platelet activation was determined by CD62P positivity.



<u>Figure 2.9</u>: Gating strategy used for the determination of precision counting beads in blood samples. Counting beads were gated as (SSC-A ^{very high}, BV421 ^{High}, Alexa Fluor 700 ^{High}).





<u>Figure 2.10</u>: Overview of the workflow used for unsupervised (t-SNE) analysis of CD41 + and CD41 – neutrophils from Nb infected mice. Neutrophils were gated out using the gating strategy in figure 2.7 and separated into CD41(+) and CD41- populations. These populations were then down sampled to 1000 events per gate and subsequently concatenated into a composite population on which t-SNE analysis was performed. The markers used for t-SNE analysis were: CD45, CD11b, Ly6G, Ly6C, IFN-y, granzyme B. The composite population was then separated back into CD41+ and CD41- populations and these were visualized on the t-SNE plane. Lastly, expression of markers was compared.



Figure 2.11: Overview of the workflow used for unsupervised (t-SNE) analysis of neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice. Neutrophils were gated out using the gating strategy in figure 2.7. Neutrophil populations were then down sampled to 2500 events per sample and subsequently concatenated into a composite population on which t-SNE analysis was performed. The markers used for t-SNE analysis were: CD45, CD11b, Ly6G, Ly6C, IFN-y, granzyme B, CD41. The composite population was then separated back into Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 populations and these were visualized on the t-SNE plane. Lastly, expression of markers was compared.

2.4) Microscopy

2.4.1) Stereomicroscopy

For analysis of worm burdens in the lung of Nb infected mice, the left lobes (outlined in figure 2.5) were removed, cut into small pieces, wrapped in gauze and suspended in falcon tubes containing a solution of 0.9 % NaCl. After overnight incubation at 37° C worms, which collect at the bottom of the tube, were carefully resuspended in a small volume of NaCl and pipetted onto a well of a gridded 12-well plate. Using a brightfield microscope the total number of larvae were then enumerated.

2.4.2) Histology and immunohistochemistry

As outlined in 2.1.2, one section of lung was removed and used for histological analyses. This first entailed fixing of lung samples in 4% paraformaldehyde, after which they were embedded in paraffin and sectioned.

For Haematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) staining, lung sections were processed and stained using a standard protocol. Briefly, this involved suspending lung sections in the following reagents (in order): Xylene, Ethanol, H₂O, Hematoxylin, H₂O, Differentiator, H₂O, Ethanol, Eosin, Ethanol, and finally, Xylene.

For CD41 IHC staining, paraffin embedded lung sections were dewaxed and rehydrated before being subjected to heat-mediated antigen retrieval in TRIS-EDTA buffer (pH 9). After endogenous peroxidase blocking, lung sections were then washed and stained with 100 ul of a rabbit monoclonal anti-CD41 primary antibody (Abcam, clone EPR17876) (1:250 dilution) for 90 minutes. After staining, sections were rinsed with PBS and visualized using a DAB chromogen anti-rabbit system (Dako K4003) and counterstained with Haematoxylin.

Slides were then further rinsed, dehydrated and finally, covered and imaged using an upright light microscope (Zeiss) with Zenmax software at 40X, 100X and 400X magnifications.

2.5) BAL assays

To assess pulmonary pathology, the concentration of protein and DNA in BAL fluid from infected mice was quantified. BAL fluid was collected post cannulation of the trachea and lavage of the lungs with 1ml sterile PBS (supplemented with 2% BSA and 0.25 M EDTA). BAL samples were centrifuged at 400 XG for 5 minutes and the supernatant (containing the protein and DNA fraction) was transferred to new tubes and analysed using a Nanodrop 1000C spectrophotometer (Thermofischer). For blanking purposes, the PBS solution used for the lavages was used.

Additionally, for analyses of BAL haemorrhaging, the optical density (OD) at 540 nm of BAL samples was analysed. The absorption of light at this wavelength correlates strongly with the concentration of haemoglobin and is commonly used to analyse pulmonary haemorrhaging ¹⁵².

2.6) Statistics

Flow cytometry data, BAL protein, BAL DNA and BAL OD_{540} are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). For statistical analysis of data sets with two groups, non-parametric two-tailed t-tests (Mann-Whitney U-test) or paired t-test were used. In experiments in which three or more groups were compared, differences were assessed using one – way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post-hoc test. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All data were analysed using GraphPad Prism version 8 (GraphPad Prism software; La Jolla, CA).

Chapter 3: Results

Chapter 3.1:

Establishing platelets as a component of the acute innate immune response to N. brasiliensis

3.1.1 Platelets become activated following Nb infection and localise to extravascular lung compartments

An important requisite for platelets performing immunological functions is that they become activated ⁷. Similar to other immune cells , their activation can be tracked and analysed using expression profiles of immune receptors (most commonly the receptor CD62P) and soluble factors ⁷. Additionally, an increasing number of studies point to the formation of circulatory platelet-leukocyte complexes as a sensitive and durable marker of platelet activation, and it is now well established that these complexes form in response to a variety of infections ⁴⁸. However, whether these complexes also form (i.e., whether platelets become activated) following a helminth infection is, to the best of our knowledge, not known.

To test this, we collected cardiac blood from naïve and Nb infected mice (taken at 18 hours post infection) and compared them on the basis of these known indices of platelet activation. We found that Nb infected mice exhibited significant circulatory platelet activation following infection. This included increased levels of platelet-leukocyte (CD45+ cells) complexes (figure 3.1.1, A), increased platelet expression (MFI) of CD41 (figure 3.1.1, B), increased levels of CD62P + platelets (figure 3.1.1, C) and increased platelet expression of CD62P (figure 3.1.1, D).

Furthermore, given previous reports that platelets leave the vascular space, often in conjunction with other immune cells during conditions of pulmonary inflammation ¹⁵³, we examined whether Nb infection was also associated with infiltration of platelets into extravascular compartments . Using immunohistochemistry, we identified CD41+ cells aggregating at vessel barriers in both naïve and Nb infected mice but were only able to find extravascular platelets in infected mice. Notably, extravascular platelets were often in close proximity to infiltrating immune cells (figure 3.1.1, E).

Taken together, our data indicates that platelets become rapidly activated following Nb infection and localise to extravascular lung compartments.



<u>Figure 3.1.1</u>: Platelets become activated following Nb infection and localise to extravascular lung compartments. Platelet circulatory responses were analysed with flow cytometry. Markers of platelet activation including their association with immune cells **A**) and their expression of CD62P **C**) at 18 hours post infection (p.i.)was assessed. Additionally, the expression (mean fluorescence intensity) of CD41 **B**) and CD62P **D**) was compared in platelets from naïve and Nb infected mice. Lastly, immunohistochemical analyses was used to investigate platelet infiltration into extravascular spaces **E**). Arrows indicated CD41+ events. * represents a p -val < 0.05 (Mann-Whitney U-test). Data is representative of 2 experiments, n= 4-5 mice.

3.1.2 : Early Nb infection is characterised by a circulatory neutrophil response

Most studies investigating acute innate immunity to Nb infection have focused either on the immune response at the site of inoculation (i.e., in the skin) or the immune response in the lungs, with very few studies examining the circulatory response shortly after (within 24 hours) of Nb infection. These studies have clearly implicated myeloid innate immune cells, such as neutrophils, as crucial effectors of early immunity ¹⁵⁴, however, how circulatory neutrophils and other myeloid derived innate cells are acutely affected following Nb infection remains ill-defined.

To characterize the early circulatory innate immune response to Nb infection, using flow cytometry, we compared the levels and number of circulating neutrophils, monocytes, and eosinophils in naïve and Nb infected mice at 18 hours post infection. We found that Nb infected mice had significantly raised levels (i.e. proportion CD45+ cells) and numbers of neutrophils (CD45+, CD11b+, Ly6C^{int} Ly6G^{HI} cells) (**figure 3.1.2, A**), but similar levels circulatory monocytes (CD45+, CD11b +, Ly6C +, SSC-A ^{Low)} (**figure 3.1.2, B**) compared to naïve mice. While we did observe a trend for increased proportions and numbers of eosinophils (CD45+, CD11b +, Ly6C ^{int}, SSC-A ^{Hi}) ¹⁵⁵ (**figure 3.1.2, C**) in Nb infected mice, this was not statistically significant. These data suggest that , in line with previous studies ¹⁵⁴, neutrophils dominate the early response to Nb infection.



<u>Figure 3.1.2</u>: Early Nb infection is characterised by a circulatory neutrophil response. Flow cytometric analysis was performed on cardiac blood of naïve and Nb infected mice at 18 hours p.i. and acute circulatory myeloid cell responses were compared. In particular, changes in neutrophils **A**), monocytes **B**) and eosinophils **C**) proportion and number were determined. Data is representative of 2 experiments, n = 4-5 mice. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

3.1.3: Early Nb infection involves recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils to the lung

Previous studies have indicated that the number of Nb larvae that reach the lung peaks at around 2 days post infection ¹⁵⁶. Similarly, many studies investigating acute pulmonary immune responses to Nb have concentrated on this time point, as this is also when peak neutrophil responses are observed ¹⁵⁷. Comparatively little is known about how pulmonary responses develop at an earlier time point, (e.g. 18 hours post infection), despite evidence that significant numbers of larvae begin to reach the lung within 24 hours of inoculation ¹⁵⁸. We therefore next sought out to characterise the early recruitment of myeloid innate cells in the lung at 18 hours post infection.

As with our analyses of the circulatory response in cardiac blood, flow cytometry was used to compare the levels and number of neutrophils, monocytes and eosinophils in the lung of naïve and Nb infected mice.

In line with expectation, we found that Nb infected mice had significantly raised levels and numbers of neutrophils (CD45+, CD11b +, Ly6G ^{Hi} cells) in their lungs relative to naïve mice (figure 3.1.3, A). Interestingly, infected mice also had moderately (but significantly) increased levels and numbers of eosinophils (CD45+, CD11b+, Ly6G -, SiglecF ^{Hi} cells) in their lungs at this time point (figure 3.1.3, C). However, as with our analyses on cardiac blood samples, monocyte (CD45+, CD11b, Ly6G -, SiglecF -, Ly6C + cells) numbers were not significantly different, although their proportion in the CD45+ population was decreased (figure 3.1.3, B), likely as a result of the increased proportions of neutrophils and eosinophils.



<u>Figure 3.1.3</u>: Early Nb infection involves recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils to the lung. Flow cytometry of lung samples taken at 18 hours p.i. was performed to analyse acute pulmonary immune responses. The proportion and number of neutrophils **A**), monocytes **B**) and eosinophils **C**) were compared. Data is representative of 2 experiments, n = 4-5 mice. ** represents a p-value < 0.01 (Mann Whitney U- test).

3.1.4: Platelets interact with immune cells in the lung during pulmonary Nb infection

Our previous findings indicated that acute pulmonary immunity to Nb invasion at 18 hours p.i. involved the recruitment of granulocytes, including neutrophils and eosinophils to the lung. These cells, especially neutrophils, are known to play important roles in mediating the early immune response ¹⁰². However, resident immune cells, such as alveolar macrophages are also thought to play crucial roles ¹⁵⁹.

Previous studies indicate that the association of platelets with immune cells is an important regulatory mechanism underlying their immune function. To establish whether platelets are a feature of the early pulmonary immune response, we next analysed the association of important innate effector cells, including neutrophils , alveolar macrophages and eosinophils with platelets, which we determined through their respective expression of the platelet marker CD41.

Flow cytometric analyses revealed increased association of neutrophils and alveolar macrophages with platelets (figure 3.1.4, A and B) following Nb infection. Furthermore, we also found increased numbers of CD41 + neutrophils and CD41+ alveolar macrophages (CD45+, CD11b ^{Low}, SiglecF ^{High} cells) in infected mice relative to naïve mice. There were also increased numbers of CD41+ eosinophils in Nb infected mice compared to naïve mice, although the proportion of eosinophils staining CD41+ was similar (figure 3.1.4, C).

These data, in combination with our previous findings showing localisation of platelets in extravascular spaces (**figure 3.1.1**), further implicate platelets in the acute innate response to Nb infection.



Figure 3.1.4: Platelets interact with immune cells in the lung during pulmonary Nb infection. Flow cytometric analysis of neutrophils A), alveolar macrophages B) and eosinophils C) in single cell suspensions was performed. Interaction of these immune populations with platelets was determined using CD41 expression (FMO were used to guide gating). The data show representative flow plots and histograms of CD41 expression. Data is representative of two experiments: n= 5-6 mice. (Mann-Whitney U- test).

<u>3.1.5</u>: Association of immune cells with platelets increases as the infection progresses in the lung

Having established that platelets interact with recruited and lung resident immune cells in the lung early on (18 hours) post infection with Nb, we next investigated whether platelets also associate with immune cells in the lung at other time points. We chose to analyse platelet -association with immune cells at day 2 and day 3 post infection, to give insight into how platelets respond during peak larval burden (day 2) and at stages just following this (day 3) ¹⁵⁸.

As before, flow cytometry was used to analyse CD41 expression on select immune populations in the lung, and levels of expression were compared between different time points. Our analyses revealed that a significantly greater proportion of neutrophils (**figure 3.1.5, A**), alveolar macrophages (**figure 3.1.5, B**) and eosinophils (**figure 3.1.5, C**) stained positive for CD41 at day 2 relative to 18 hours p.i. Furthermore, CD41 detection remained elevated at day 3 p.i..

Similarly, our analysis of the MFI of CD41 on these immune populations produced similar findings: all three immune populations demonstrated increased MFI of CD41 on day 2 and day 3 relative to 18 hours post infection. However, with the exception of alveolar macrophages, where significant differences were found between both day 2 and 18 hours and day 3 and 18 hours post infection (figure 3.1.4, B), statistical significance was only reached when comparing day 3 and 18 hours post infection (figure 3.1.4, A and C).



<u>Figure 3.1.4</u>: Platelets interact with immune cells in the lung during pulmonary Nb infection. Flow cytometric analysis was performed to determine differences in the association neutrophils A), alveolar macrophages B) and eosinophils C) with platelets in the lung at 18 hours p.i..CD41 + gates are based on unstained controls. Representative flow plots of cell populations and histograms showing CD41 expression are presented. ** indicates a p-value of < 0.01 (one -way ANOVA), n = 5 mice.

3.1.6: CD41+ and CD41- circulatory neutrophils represent distinct subsets with altered phenotype

Given our previous findings showing tight association of platelets with immune cells in the circulation and the lung during acute Nb infection, we next tested whether platelet associated and non-associated cells were phenotypically distinct, as has been shown in other studies ⁸⁷. To investigate this, we used both supervised and unsupervised (t-SNE) flow cytometric data analysis to probe for differences between circulatory CD41+ and CD41 – neutrophils in Nb infected mice. We chose to focus our analysis on neutrophils considering our previous findings showing that acute Nb infection is characterized by a circulatory neutrophil response (**figure 3.1.2**).

The results of our t-SNE analyses, as outlined in **figure 3.1.6**, **A** demonstrated that CD41+ and CD41- neutrophils displayed similar patterns of expression of the neutrophil markers Ly6G, Ly6C and CD11b, but qualitatively distinct expression of IFN-y and granzyme -B.

To investigate this further we quantified the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of the same receptor and effector molecules visualized with t-SNE in **figure 3.1.6**, **A** . Our results indicated that, as predicted by the t-SNE analyses, CD41+ and CD41- circulatory neutrophils had similar expression of Ly6G , Ly6C and CD11b (**figure 3.1.6**, **Bi – Biii**), but altered expression of IFN-y and granzyme-B. More specifically, we observed reduced expression of IFN-y and significantly higher expression of granzyme-B on CD41+ neutrophils relative to CD41 - neutrophils (**figure 3.1.6**, **Bv -Bvi**).

To further test the association of CD41+ expression (i.e. platelet association) with differences in IFN-y and granzyme-B expression, CD41+ neutrophils from Nb infected mice were divided into CD41 intermediate (int) and CD41 high expressing populations and the expression of IFN-y and granzyme -B compared. In line with the results of our analyses comparing CD41+ and CD41 – neutrophils, we observed decreased expression of IFN-y and increased expression of granzyme-B on CD41 high cells relative to CD41 int cells.

These data suggest that CD41+ and CD41- neutrophils are distinct from one another and that CD41+ expression negatively associates with IFN-y expression and positively with granzyme-B expression.



Figure 3.1.6 CD41 positive and negative circulatory neutrophils represent distinct subsets with altered phenotype. T-SNE analysis was performed on CD41+ and CD41 – neutrophils. Their visualization on the t-SNE landscape and expression patterns of neutrophil receptors and effector molecules are shown **A**). Additionally, MFI of individual receptors and effector molecules are shown **B.i** – **Bvi**). Finally, CD41+ were gated into CD41 High and CD41 int populations and the expression of IFN- γ and granzyme-B was compared **C**). Data is representative of 2 experiments, n = 5. Paired t-test was used for statistical analysis.

3.1.7: CD41 positive and negative lung neutrophils differentially express RELM-alpha.

In light of our previous results, demonstrating close assolation of platelets with immune effector cells, including neutrophils in the lung following Nb infection, we next decided to investigate whether platelet associated (CD41 +) and CD41 – lung neutrophils would , similar to circulatory neutrophils , show differences in their phenotpe. To do this we again made use of t-SNE analysis and compared the expression patterns of neutrophil receptor and effector molecules in CD41 + and CD41 – lung neutrophils.

Our results indicate that, in contrast to circulatory neutrophils, CD41 + and CD41 – lung neutrophils displayed qualitatively different expression of the neutrophil markers Ly6G and CD11b (figure 3.1.7, A). Furthermore, CD41 + and CD41 – neutrophils significantly differed in terms of their expression of RELM- α - a type 2 associated molecule that plays important roles in mediating early protective responses against Nb in the lung ¹³⁷.

As before, to quantify differences between CD41 + and CD41 – lung neutrophils, analyses of their respective MFIs of neutrophil Ly6G, CD11b and RELM- α was perfomed. In agreement with our t-SNE analysi, CD41 + neutrophils demonstrated higher expression of Ly6G and RELM- α and reduced expression of CD11b (figure 3.1.7, Bi – Bii).

Moreover, upon separation of the CD41+ lung neutrophil population into CD41 intermediate (int) an CD41 high populations it was observerd that CD41 high populations had increased MFI of RELM- α relative to CD41 int populations (figure 3.1.7, C).

Taken together, our analysis indicates that, similar to circulatory CD41+ and CD41neutrophils, lung neutrophils that are platelet-assoicated are distinct from non-associated populations and differentially express RELM- α



<u>Figure 3.1.7</u>: CD41 positive and negative lung neutrophils differentially express RELMalpha. T-SNE analysis was performed on CD41+ and CD41 – neutrophils. Their visualization on the t-SNE landscape and expression patterns of neutrophil receptors and effector molecules are shown **A**). Additionally, MFI of individual neutrophil receptors **B.i** – **B.iii**) and RELM- α **Biv**) are shown. Finally, CD41+ were gated into CD41 High and CD41 int populations and the expression of RELM-alpha compared **C**). Data is representative of 2 experiments, n = 5 mice. Paired t-test.

Chapter 3.2:

Establishing a model of Nb infection in platelet depleted mice and evaluating the role of platelets in protection to Nb-associated pulmonary pathology

3.2.1: Platelet depletion prior to infection with Nb results in markedly worsened pulmonary pathology

To further study the role that platelets are playing in the acute innate immune response to Nb infection we established a model of antibody mediated platelet depletion. This model entailed rendering mice severely thrombocytopenic (less than 10 % of normal platelet levels **Appendix, figure 5.3**) prior to infecting them with Nb.

Studies using antibody mediated depletion of platelets have contributed significant findings to our understanding of the pathophysiology of pulmonary infection with bacterial and viral pathogens and the function of platelets ⁵⁰. We hypothesized that depletion of platelets would perturb immunologic and physiologic processes supporting protection to pulmonary Nb infection as well.

In line with our hypothesis, we found that mice that were rendered thrombocytopenic prior to infection with Nb (Nb + anti-CD41 mice) succumbed quickly to infection and had marked pulmonary pathology. Indeed, none of the Nb + anti-CD41 mice survived longer than 24 hours post infection (figure 3.2.1, A) and Nb + anti-CD41 mice displayed significantly increased levels of protein and DNA in their BAL fluid relative to non-depleted (Nb only) mice (figure 3.2.1, B). Interestingly, the increased pathology in Nb + anti – CD41 mice correlated with reduced worm burdens in their lungs (figure 3.2.1, C), suggesting that they also had differences in anti-parasitic responses.

Haematoxylin & Eosin staining further revealed significant differences between Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice. Thrombocytopenic Nb + anti-CD41 mice showed extensive haemorrhaging in their lung (figure 3.2.1, D – upper panels) which was absent from Nb only mice. Additionally, haemorrhaging in Nb + anti-CD41 localized to regions where Nb larvae were present and was associated with severe alveolar inflammation (figure 3.2.1, E – lower right panels).

Taken together, these data clearly suggest a notable role for platelets in protecting against Nb-associated pathology in the lung during acute infection.



<u>Figure 3.2.1</u>: Platelet depletion prior to infection with Nb results in markedly worsened pulmonary pathology. Mice were rendered thrombocytopenic prior to being infected with Nb. The survival curves of Nb infected and Nb infected + anti-CD41 treated mice are shown -**A**). Pulmonary pathology was quantified using readouts relating to infiltration of protein and DNA **B**) into BAL fluid. Worm counts in the lungs of treated mice were additionally determined **C**). H & E staining on lung sections from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice was also performed to gain oversight of gross pathology **D**). Arrows point to Nb larvae.BV = blood vessel; AW = airway. Data are representative of three experiments, n = 5 mice. ** represents a p-value < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney u-test).

3.2.2: Platelet depletion prior to Nb infection is associated with changes in circulating immune populations and decreased levels of platelet-leukocyte aggregates.

Having established that platelets are crucial for control of helminth – associated pathology in the lung, we next investigated whether platelet depleted mice also had notable differences in their acute response to Nb infection. To assess this, we performed flow cytometry on circulatory cells in the blood of Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice. Specifically, we focused on establishing potential differences in the myeloid compartment, given our previous findings showing acute changes of myeloid cell populations following infection with Nb (figure 3.1.2).

Flow cytometric analyses revealed that while Nb + anti-CD41 mice had similar levels of circulating monocytes (figure 3.2.2, Bi) and eosinophils (figure 3.2.2, Ci) in their blood, they had significantly increased levels of neutrophils (figure 3.2.2, Ai) relative to Nb only mice.

Furthermore and in line with expectation, we observed decreased levels of circulating platelet-leukocyte complexes in Nb + anti-CD41 mice, especially platelet- neutrophil (figure 3.2.2, Aii) and platelet-monocyte complexes (figure 3.2.2, Bii). While the levels of circulating platelet-eosinophil complexes were moderately lower in Nb + anti-CD41 mice (figure 3.2.2, Cii), this was not statistically significant.


Figure 3.2.2: Platelet depletion prior to Nb infection is associated with changes in circulating immune populations and decreased levels of platelet-leukocyte complexes. Blood was collected from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice, and circulating myeloid populations were analysed via flow cytometry. Representative flow cytometry plots and quantification of neutrophil Ai), monocyte Bi) and eosinophil Ci) levels are shown. Similarly, the levels of CD41+ neutrophils Aii), monocytes Bii) and eosinophils Cii) are presented. Data is representative of two experiments, n = 5 mice. ** represents a p-value < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney U- test)

3.2.3: Platelet depletion leads to minor changes in the pulmonary myeloid immune landscape

As outlined previously, innate myeloid cells are rapidly recruited to the lung during Nb infection **(figure 3.1.3)** and play crucial roles in mediating acute immune responses ¹⁰². Both earlier and recent studies have indicated that platelets play notable roles in mediating and regulating the extravasation of innate cells out of the circulation and into tissue, including the lung ⁸⁸. Platelets mediate leukocyte recruitment by either enhancing their adherence to endothelial sites, or through the production of factors that drive leukocyte chemotaxis ⁷⁰.

Given these previous studies, we next tested whether platelet depletion prior to Nb infection would also be associated with significant changes in the pulmonary myeloid immune landscape, specifically at 18 hours post infection. Flow cytometric analyses revealed that Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice had only moderate differences in the levels and numbers of lung myeloid cells, with similar levels of neutrophils (**figure 3.2.3, A**), monocytes (CD45+, CD11b+, SiglecF-, Ly6G -, SSC-A^{low} cells) (**figure 3.2.3, B**) and alveolar macrophages (**figure 3.2.3, C**). However, we did observe consistently lower levels and numbers of eosinophils in Nb + anti-CD41 mice relative to Nb only mice (**figure 3.2.3, D**), which indicates that platelets may regulate the recruitment of myeloid cell subsets during acute Nb infection in a cell-specific manner.



<u>Figure 3.2.3</u>: Platelet depletion leads to minor changes in the pulmonary myeloid immune landscape. Lung cells from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice were prepared into single cell suspensions and analysed using flow cytometry. The relative proportion (% CD45+ cells) of individual myeloid cells and their total number in prepared suspensions were quantified. Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice were compared in terms of their neutrophils **A**), monocytes **B**), alveolar macrophages **C**) and eosinophils **D**) Data are representative of 2 experiments, n = 5 mice. (Mann-Whitney U- test)

3.2.4: Platelet depletion significantly reduced the number of plateletleukocyte complexes in the lung

Our previous data indicated that platelets interact with immune populations in the lungs following Nb infection. Based on our analyses showing reduced levels of platelet-leukocyte complexes in the circulation of Nb + anti-CD41 mice, we postulated that anti-CD41 treatment would also significantly decrease the number of platelet-leukocyte complexes detectable in the lung.

In line with our hypothesis, we found that within Nb + anti-CD41 mice a reduced proportion of neutrophils (**figure 3.2.4**, **A**) monocytes (**figure 3.2.4**, **B**), alveolar macrophages (figure 3.2.4, **C**) and eosinophils (**figure 3.2.4**, **D**) were staining CD41+ positive relative to Nb only mice.

Furthermore, these Nb + anti-CD41 mice also displayed significantly reduced total numbers of CD41+ monocytes and CD41+ eosinophils (figure 3.2.4, B and D) and a strong trend for reduced numbers of CD41+ neutrophils and alveolar macrophages (figure 3.2.4, A and C).

These data suggest that treatment with anti-CD41 prior to infection with Nb leads to a broad ablation of direct platelet – leukocyte interaction both within the circulation (figure **3.2.2**) as well as in the lung.



Figure 3.2.4: Platelet depletion significantly reduced the number of platelet-leukocyte aggregates in the lung. Flow cytometric analyses of platelet-leukocyte aggregates in single-cell suspension of lung tissue from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 was performed. The relative proportions and number of platelet-neutrophil A), platelet – monocyte B), platelet- alveolar macrophage C) and platelet-eosinophil D) aggregates were determined. The data are representative of 2 experiments, n = 5 mice. (Mann-Whitney U- test)

3.2.5: Circulatory neutrophils from platelet depleted mice are similar to CD41 negative neutrophils

To further identify immunologic correlates associated with the severe pathology observed in the lung of platelet depleted (Nb + anti-CD41) mice we next focused our attention on investigating differences in neutrophils. Given our findings indicating increased circulatory neutrophil levels in Nb + anti-CD41 mice (**figure 3.2.1**) we investigated whether neutrophils from platelet depleted mice would display an altered phenotype, and whether they would be similar to CD41 negative neutrophils characterized previously (**figure 3.1.6**).

To test this we employed both supervised and unsupervised flow cytometric analysis on a defined population of neutrophils from both Nb only and Nb anti-CD41 mice and compared them.

Similar to our previous findings showing marginal differences in the expression of Ly6G, Ly6C and CD11b between circulatory CD41 + and CD41 – neutrophils (figure 3.1.6), t-SNE analyses revealed that circulatory neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice exhibited similar expression patterns of Ly6G, Ly6C and CD11b (figure 3.2.5, A). In contrast, but also in line with our previous findings, we found that neutrophils from Nb + anti-CD41 mice qualitatively differed in their expression of CD41, IFN-y and granzyme B (figure 3.2.5, A). More specifically, t-SNE analysis revealed markedly altered expression of IFN-y in neutrophils from Nb + anti-CD41 mice compared to Nb only mice. Interestingly, IFN-y expression did not localise to single clusters within the landscape, but was dispersed among different clusters, suggesting that IFN-y positive neutrophils may comprise a heterogenous population of cells.

To quantify the differences observed using t-SNE, MFI analyses of the same receptors and effector molecules visualized in the t-SNE landscape were performed. In agreement with our t-SNE analyses, neutrophils from Nb + anti-CD41 mice had similar MFI of Ly6G, Ly6C and CD11b (figure 3.2.5, Bi – Biii) and significantly altered expression of CD41 and IFN-y (figure 3.2.5, Biv and Bv). While we did observe a trend for reduced granzyme B expression on neutrophils from Nb + anti-CD41 mice (figure 3.2.5, Bvi), this was not statistically significant.

Mirroring these results, using conventional flow cytometric analyses, we also found strong trends for increased proportions of IFN-y + neutrophils and decreased proportions of granzyme B + neutrophils in Nb + anti-CD41 mice (**figure 3.2.5, C**).



<u>Figure 3.2.5:</u> Circulatory neutrophils from platelet depleted mice are similar to CD41 (-) neutrophils. T-SNE analysis was performed neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice collected at 18 hours post infection. Their visualization on the t-SNE landscape and expression patterns of neutrophil receptors and effector molecules are shown **A**). The MFI of individual receptors and effector molecules are also **presented B.i** – **Bvi**). Additionally, manual supervised analyses of IFN-y **C**) and granzyme B **D**) expression on neutrophils was performed. Data is representative of 2 experiments. For figures **C** and **D**, data was pooled. N = 5 mice. (Mann-Whitney u- test)

3.2.6: Lung neutrophils from platelet depleted mice have altered phenotype.

Given our earlier findings showing tight association of platelets with IFN-y and RELM- α expression in neutrophils of Nb infected mice (figure 3.1.6 and 3.1.7, 3.2.5), we next sought to determine whether lung neutrophils from platelet depleted mice would also exhibit altered expression of IFN-y and RELM- α .

To gain insight into the association of platelet depletion with IFN-y expression, lung neutrophils from naïve, CD41 treated, Nb infected (Nb only) and Nb + anti-CD41 treated mice were isolated and, following stimulation, were stained for intracellular IFN-y. Our results indicated that while Nb only mice had similar MFI of IFN-y compared to naïve mice, both CD41 only and Nb + CD41 mice had strong trends for increased MFI of IFN-y (figure

3.2.6, A)

In separate experiments, to interrogate the association of platelet depletion with lung neutrophil expression of RELM- α , we used both supervised and unsupervised flow cytometric analysis of neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice.

Interestingly, t-SNE analysis revealed the presence of significant qualitative differences in the expression patterns of neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice, especially with regard to the expression of the neutrophil markers Ly6G and CD11b , and platelet-associated CD41 (figure 3.2.6, A) .However, only minor differences were observed in the expression pattern of RELM- α between groups.

In support of these findings, further analyses demonstrated that Nb + anti-CD41 mice had significantly lower MFI of Ly6G, CD11b and CD41 (figure 3.2.6, Bi – Biii), but similar MFI of RELM- α (figure 3.2.6, Biv) compared to Nb only mice.

In contrast to this however, supervised analyses of the proportion of RELM- α + lung neutrophils revealed that platelet depleted mice had significantly lower proportions of RELM- α + neutrophils in their lungs relative to Nb only mice (figure 3.2.6, C).

Collectively these data suggest the existence of a nuanced relationship between platelets and neutrophils in the lung during acute Nb infection and that the absence of platelets alters neutrophil responses in the lung.



<u>Figure 3.2.6</u>: Lung neutrophils from platelet depleted mice have altered phenotype. IC staining of IFN-y on stimulated neutrophils from lung neutrophils were investigated **A**). Furthermore t--SNE analysis was performed on lung neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice at a18 hours post infection. Their visualization on the t-SNE landscape and expression patterns of neutrophil receptors and effector molecules are shown **B**). Additionally, MFI of individual receptors and effector molecules are presented **C.i** – **C.iv**). Finally, supervised gating was performed to determine in the proportion of RELM-alpha + neutrophils in Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice **D**) Data **B** -**D** are representative of 2 experiments. For **D**) data was pooled. N = 5 mice. (Mann-Whitney u- test)

3.2.7: Treatment with anti-Ly6G leads to significant reductions in circulatory and lung neutrophil populations

Neutrophils are implicated in driving acute immunopathology in pulmonary Nb infection and previous studies have indicated that their depletion leads to reduced Nb -associated pathology at day 2 post infection ¹⁶⁰. Whether their depletion also protects against pathology at an earlier time point (18 hours post infection) and whether neutrophil – mediated immunopathology is modulated by the presence/absence of platelets remains ill-defined, however.

Given the findings of previous studies and our own observation of aberrant neutrophil responses in platelet depleted mice (figure 3.2.5 and figure 3.2.6), we postulated that neutrophils were contributing significantly towards enhanced pulmonary pathology in Nb + anti-CD41 mice.

To test this hypothesis, we devised experiments in which we co – depleted mice of their platelets and neutrophils (Nb + anti-CD41 + anti-Ly6G mice) and compared these to mice that had either received no depleting antibody (Nb only), only a platelet depleting antibody (Nb + anti-CD41 mice) or only a neutrophil depleting antibody (Nb + anti-Ly6G mice).

To confirm the efficacy of neutrophil depletion (treatment strategy is outlined in figure 2.3), we performed flow cytometric analyses of blood and lung samples. Our findings indicated that our depletion strategy was effective in significantly reducing circulatory and lung neutrophil numbers in our Nb infection model: Nb + anti-Ly6G mice had significantly reduced levels of circulatory (figure 3.2.7, A and B) and lung (figure 3.2.7, C and D) neutrophils relative to Nb + anti-CD41 mice, and Nb + anti-Ly6G mice had significantly reduced levels of neutrophils relative to Nb only mice.

Consistent with our previous findings, Nb + anti-CD41 mice also had significantly elevated levels of circulatory neutrophils relative to Nb only mice (**figure 3.2.7, A- B**). Interestingly, while Nb + anti-CD41 + anti-Ly6G mice did exhibit significantly reduced levels of lung

neutrophils compared to Nb only mice (figure 3.2.7, C -D), they had similar levels of circulatory neutrophils (figure 3.2.7, A- B). This suggests that co-administration of a platelet – depleting antibody (anti-CD41), together with a neutrophil-depleting antibody may partially interfere with the efficacy of circulatory neutrophil depletion but is nonetheless a viable method to significantly reduce neutrophil numbers in thrombocytopenic mice.



Figure 3.2.7: Treatment with anti-Ly6G leads to significant reductions in circulatory and lung resident neutrophil populations. To test the contribution of neutrophils to helminth-associated pathology in Nb + anti-CD41 mice, neutrophils were depleted using antibodies. Flow cytometric analyses was performed on blood and lung samples of mice to confirm the efficacy of depletion. The groups used for these experiments and representative flow cytometry plots for circulatory neutrophils and lung neutrophils are outlined in A) and C) respectively. The quantification of the relative levels and numbers of circulatory B) and lung neutrophils D) are also shown. Data are representative of 2 experiments, n = 5 mice per group. (One way ANOVA).

3.2.8: Co-depletion of platelets with neutrophils significantly decreases acute Nb-associated pathology in the lung

Having established an effective protocol to co-deplete mice of their platelets and neutrophils during acute Nb infection (figure 3.2.7), we next explored how co-depletion altered Nb – associated pathology in the lung.

In line with our hypothesis that neutrophils play important roles in modulating acute Nbassociated pathology in platelet depleted mice, we found that co-depleted mice, i.e. Nb + anti-CD41 + anti-Ly6G treated mice , had reduced levels of protein and DNA in their BAL fluid (figure 3.2.8, A and B) relative to Nb + anti-CD41 mice. Indeed, Nb + anti-CD41 + anti-Ly6G mice had comparable levels of protein and DNA in their BAL to mice with normal platelet counts, i.e. Nb only and Nb + anti-Ly6G mice (figure 3.2.8, A and B).

Moreover, histological analyses of lung sections from Nb + anti-CD41 and Nb + anti-CD41 + anti-Ly6G mice revealed that co-depleted mice had reduced haemorrhaging and gross pathology (figure 3.2.8, D), although significant haemorrhaging was still observed to occur in these mice.

Furthermore, in line with earlier findings, we observed a strong trend for reduced worm burdens in Nb + anti-CD41 mice relative to Nb only mice (figure 3.2.8, C). Interestingly, while not statistically significant, Nb + anti-CD41 + anti-Ly6G mice also displayed reduced worm burdens relative to Nb only mice, which is suggestive of the existence of neutrophil independent anti-parasitic responses.

In summary, these data suggest that co-administration of a neutrophil depleting antibody together with a platelet depleting antibody partially protects against enhanced infection - associated pathology observed in Nb + anti-CD41 mice. Additionally, these data point to platelets playing additionally roles in protecting against Nb -associated pathology outside of their potential regulation of neutrophil function.



<u>Figure 3.2.8</u>: Co-depletion of platelets with neutrophils significantly decreases acute Nbassociated pathology in the lung. Platelet -depleted mice were additionally treated with a neutrophil depleting antibody to determine the role of infiltrating neutrophils in helminth-associated pathology in the lung. To quantify pathology, the concentration of protein **A**) and DNA **B**) in the BAL fluid was determined. Additionally, worm burdens in the lung were investigated **C**). Lastly, H&E staining of lung sections was performed to give an overview of gross pathology **C**). Arrows point to Nb larvae. Data are representative of 2 experiments, n = 5 mice ** represents a p-value < 0.01 (one- way ANOVA).

Chapter 3.3:

Investigating potential mechanisms underlying platelet regulation of Nb-associated pulmonary pathology.

3.3.1: treatment with anti-CD62P partially disrupts platelet-neutrophil interaction

To gain insight into how platelet regulate Nb-associated pulmonary pathology , we next sought to interfere with platelet-neutrophil interaction .While multiple receptors are implicated in supporting and driving the interaction of platelets with neutrophils, the CD62P(P-selectin)-PSGL-1 axis is the most well studied ⁶⁹ and research continues to emerge on the importance of this receptor -ligand pair in regulating diverse inflammatory processes. The interaction of platelet with neutrophils via this axis has been shown to modulate diverse neutrophil responses , including the production of ROS , neutrophil degranulation and NET production ¹⁶¹. Given previous studies implicating direct platelet -neutrophil interaction in modulating immunopathogenic mechanisms in the lung during acute infection ⁷⁵ and our previous findings showing increased association of platelets with neutrophils in Nb infected mice (**figure 3.1.3**) we postulated that targeting of platelet neutrophil interaction would lead to alter Nb-associated pathology in the lung.

To disrupt platelet-neutrophil interaction we treated mice with anti-CD62P blocking antibodies prior to infection with Nb. The dosing regimen that was used was the same as previously indicated for the anti-CD41 antibody, used in platelet -depletion experiments (see figure 2.3 for details).

To ensure that treatment with the anti-CD62P antibody did not lead to altered platelet responses, we performed flow cytometry on blood from mice that had been treated prior to infection (Nb + anti-CD62P mice) and compared these to non -treated Nb only mice. We found that Nb + anti-CD62P mice exhibited neither altered platelet levels (**figure 3.3.1, A**), nor increased levels of CD62P+ platelets (**figure 3.3.1, B**) compared to Nb only mice.

Furthermore, anti-CD62P treatment was not associated with significant changes to circulatory neutrophil levels (**figure 3.3.1, C**). However, consistent with our hypothesis, we found that Nb + anti-CD62P mice did have a lower proportion of CD41+ neutrophils in their circulation (**figure 3.3.1, D**) and reduced MFI of CD41 on lung neutrophils (**figure 3.3.1, E**) relative to Nb only mice.

89

In view of earlier data showing altered phenotype in lung neutrophils of platelet depleted mice (figure 3.2.6), we also compared the expression of neutrophil markers between Nb only and Nb + anti-CD62P mice but were unable to find significant differences (figure 3.3.1, F).

Taken together, these data suggest that anti-CD62P treatment partially disrupted the association of platelets with neutrophils in the circulation and the lung but was not associated with changes in neutrophil levels or neutrophil phenotype.



<u>Figure 3.3.1</u>: treatment with anti-CD62P partially disrupts platelet-neutrophil interaction. To investigate potential mechanisms underlying platelet regulation of Nb pathology, mice were treated with anti-CD62P to acutely disrupt platelet—neutrophil interaction. The effect of treatment on platelet levels **A**), platelet activation **B**), circulatory neutrophil levels **C**) and platelet-neutrophil complexes **D**) were determined. Additionally shown, are the effect of CD62P treatment on lung neutrophil CD41 MFI **E**) and lung neutrophil expression of neutrophil markers **F**). Data are representative of 2 experiments. N = 4 mice. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

3.3.2: treatment with anti-CD62P prior to infection does not associate with changes in Nb –associated pathology

After establishing that mice treated with anti-CD62P have reduced platelet-neutrophil interaction (**figure 3.3.1**), we next turned our attention to the effect of anti-CD62P treatment on Nb – associated pathology. Specifically, we wanted to investigate if, similar to Nb + anti-CD41 mice, mice treated with anti-CD62P would exhibit significantly enhanced pulmonary pathology at 18 hours post infection.

As before, to test this, we collected BAL and lung samples from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD62P mice and analysed read outs of pulmonary pathology, including BAL protein and DNA content, BAL haemoglobin concentration and alveolar inflammation. Our results indicate that Nb only and Nb + anti-CD62P mice had similar pulmonary pathology, with comparable levels of BAL protein and DNA **(figure 3.3.2, A)** and BAL haemoglobin **(figure 3.3.2, B)**.

Furthermore, investigation into gross pathology using histological staining revealed similar levels of alveolar inflammation in regions surrounding migrating larvae (figure 3.3.2, D) and neither Nb only nor Nb + anti-CD62P mice exhibited significant pulmonary haemorrhaging following acute infection. This is in notable contrast to platelet-depleted (Nb + anti-CD41) mice, which exhibited disruption to alveolar -capillary barriers (figure 3.2.1).

In line with these observations, Nb only and Nb + anti-CD62P mice also displayed similar worm burdens in their lungs during acute infection (figure 3.3.2, C).

These data suggest that treatment with anti-CD62P, using the dosing regimen outlined previously, does not impact on helminth-associated pathology during acute Nb infection.



<u>Figure 3.3.2</u>: treatment with anti-CD62P prior to infection does not associate with changes in Nb –associated pathology. Mice were treated with anti-CD62P prior to being infected with Nb and lung and BAL fluid were collected at 18 hours p.i. Markers of Nb-associated pulmonary pathology, including BAL protein and DNA **A**) and BAL haemoglobin **B**) concentrations were analysed. Additionally, pulmonary worm burdens were determined **C**). To gain insight into gross pulmonary pathology, H&E staining of lung sections from anti-CD62P treated and non-treated mice were performed **D**). Arrows indicate Nb larvae. Data are representative of 2 experiments. n = 4 mice per group. Data in A -C was pooled. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

3.3.3: treatment with anti-podoplanin modestly alters platelet –neutrophil interaction and associates with altered neutrophil phenotype in the lung

In addition to the CD62P – PSGL-1 axis, several other receptor -ligand pairs have been shown to mediate the interaction of platelets with neutrophils, and modulate immunologic processes. An emerging player in thrombo-inflammatory diseases and infection is the platelet receptor CLEC-2 ¹⁷. This receptor is involved in several aspects of the immunobiology of platelets and also regulated the interaction of platelet with leukocytes ¹⁷. The endogenous ligand of platelet CLEC-2 is podoplanin , which is expressed on a variety of epithelial and immune cells ¹⁷. The CLEC-2 – podoplanin axis is implicated in the regulation of inflammation during infection ⁹⁴ , and constitutes a mechanism through which platelets may exert protective anti-inflammatory activity ¹⁷. In line with this , previous studies have demonstrated deleterious effects following inhibition of the CLEC-2- podoplanin axis , whether through genetic ablation of the CLEC-2 receptor or through anti-body mediated blockade ⁹⁴, on pulmonary pathology and inflammation.

We therefore wondered whether platelet- mediated regulation of Nb-associated pulmonary pathology involved the CLEC-2 – podoplanin axis and whether antibody mediated antagonism of podoplanin would result in disruption of platelet-neutrophil interaction and altered neutrophil phenotype.

In order to gain insight into this, we performed flow cytometry on blood and lung samples from mice that had been treated with an anti-podoplanin blocking antibody prior to infection with Nb (Nb + anti-podoplanin mice), and compared these to non-treated (Nb only) mice (sampling was again at 18 hours post infection).

We found that Nb + anti-podoplanin mice had similar levels of circulatory platelets (figure 3.3.3, A) but a trend for increased circulatory neutrophils (figure 3.3.3, B) relative to Nb only mice. Moreover, while again statistically insignificant, Nb + anti-podoplanin mice also exhibited a trend for reduced CD41+ circulatory neutrophils (figure 3.3.3, C).

Analyses of lung neutrophils however, demonstrated the presence of distinct differences between Nb + anti-podoplanin and Nb only mice: Lung neutrophils from Nb + anti-

podoplanin mice had reduced MFI of CD41, Ly6G , Ly6C and podoplanin (figure 3.3.3, D – E).

Collectively these data suggest that anti-podoplanin treatment impacts lung neutrophils, while modestly affecting circulatory platelet and neutrophil responses.



<u>Figure 3.3.3</u>: treatment with anti-podoplanin modestly alters platelet –neutrophil interaction and associates with altered neutrophil phenotype in the lung. Mice were treated with antipodoplanin antibodies (Nb + anti-podoplanin) prior to infection with Nb. The effect of treatment on platelet levels **A**), circulatory neutrophil levels **B**) and the proportion of CD41+ neutrophils **C**) was determined by flow cytometry and levels compared to non-treated (Nb only) mice. Additionally are shown differences lung neutrophil CD41 MFI **D**) neutrophil marker MFI **E**) and podoplanin expression **F**). Data are representative of 2 experiments. N = 5 mice. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

3.3.4: treatment with anti-podoplanin does not associate with increased Nb – associated pathology

Following on from our analyses on the effect of anti-podoplanin treatment on circulatory platelet and lung responses, we next characterized the impact of treatment on Nb – associated pathology in the lung at 18 hours post infection.

As in previous experiments, analyses of pulmonary pathology involved determining the concentration of BAL fluid molecular infiltrates and alveolar inflammation in Nb only and antibody treated (Nb + anti-podoplanin) mice.

Similar to our findings on the effect of anti-CD62P treatment on acute pulmonary pathology (figure 3.3.2), we found that mice that had been treated with anti-podoplanin prior to infection with Nb had comparable levels of pulmonary pathology compared to non-treated mice. This included comparable levels of BAL protein and DNA (figure 3.3.4, A) and a minor trend for increased BAL haemoglobin concentration (figure 3.3.4, C).

Moreover, histological analyses revealed Nb + anti-podoplanin mice also had comparable levels of alveolar inflammation and pulmonary haemorrhaging in regions adjacent to migrating Nb larvae (**figure 3.3.4, D**).

Lastly, the number of larvae in the lungs of Nb + anti-podoplanin and Nb only mice were not significantly different (**figure 3.3.4, B**).

These data therefore suggest that treatment with an anti-podoplanin antibodies prior to infection with Nb does not significantly impact on Nb-associated pathology at 18 hours post infection.



Figure 3.3.4: treatment with anti-podoplanin does not associate with increased Nb – associated pathology. Mice were treated with anti-podoplanin antibodies prior to infection with Nb. Pulmonary pathology was quantified using readouts relating to infiltration of protein and DNA **A**) and haemoglobin **C**) into BAL fluid of untreated (Nb only) and treated (Nb + anti-podoplanin) mice. Worm counts in the lungs of treated mice were additionally determined **B**). H & E staining on lung sections was also performed to gain oversight of gross pathology **D**). Arrows point to Nb larvae. Data are representative of 2 experiments. Data for figures **A** – **C** was pooled. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

3.3.5: dual treatment with anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin is associated with altered circulatory neutrophil and platelet responses during acute Nb infection

While our previous experiments suggested that targeting of individual platelet receptors , including CD62P (figure 3.3.1) and CLEC-2/podoplanin (figure 3.3.3) , did not significantly impact on circulatory platelets and neutrophils phenotype (but possibly lung neutrophils) , in both cases there were trends (though slight) for increased Nb-associated pulmonary pathology (figures , 3.3.2 and 3.3.4) While the rationale for these experiments is consistent with previous studies that have demonstrated significant effects on platelet responses through the antagonism of individual receptors ¹⁶², it is also likely that multiple receptors co-ordinate to regulate platelet- mediated functions during infection ⁴⁸

We therefore hypothesized that antagonism of multiple platelet receptors at once would enhance disruption of platelet regulated responses relative to single receptor targeting and would potentially allow us to resolve whether platelet signalling via these receptors impacts on pathomechanisms involved in acute Nb infection.

To test this hypothesis, we dual treated mice with an anti-podoplanin (anti-podo) and an anti-CD62P antibody using the dosing regimen outlined previously and compared these to non-treated, Nb only mice. Similar to previous experiments we collected blood at 18 hours post infection and analysed circulatory platelet and neutrophil responses.

We found that Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice had altered circulatory platelet and neutrophil responses at 18 hours post infection, including altered platelet expression of CD41 (**figure 3.3.5, B**) and altered neutrophil levels (**figure 3.3.5, C**). Furthermore, while Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P had proportionally fewer platelets, their absolute platelet counts relative to Nb only mice were similar (**figure 3.3.5, A**).

Interestingly, we did not detect differences in terms of the MFI of CD41 on either circulatory neutrophils or lung neutrophils (**figure 3.3.5, D and F**), suggesting that, in contrast to previous experiments (**figures 3.3.1 and 3.3.3**), antibody treatment was not leading to altered detection of CD41 on neutrophils. Moreover, circulatory neutrophils from Nb + antipodo + anti-CD62P and Nb only mice displayed similar MFI of the neutrophil markers Ly6G, Ly6C and CD11b (**figure 3.3.5, E**). We observed a modest trend for reduced MFI of Ly6G on

lung neutrophils from Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice, although Ly6C expression was unchanged following treatment (figure 3.3.5, G).

Together, these data indicate that dual treatment with anti-podoplanin and anti-CD62P significantly modulates circulatory platelet phenotype and is associated with elevated circulatory neutrophil numbers, but does not impact on the detection of CD41 on neutrophils, or circulatory neutrophil phenotype.



<u>Figure 3.3.5</u>: dual treatment with anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin is associated with altered circulatory neutrophil and platelet responses during acute Nb infection. Mice were treated with anti-podoplanin and anti-CD62P antibodies (Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P) prior to infection with Nb. The effect of treatment on platelet levels **A**) platelet CD41 MFI **B**), circulatory neutrophil levels **C**) and MFI of CD41 **D**) and neutrophil markers **E**) on circulatory neutrophils were determined by flow cytometry and levels compared to non-treated (Nb only) mice. Additionally, are shown, lung neutrophil CD41 MFI **F**) and neutrophil marker expression **G**). N = 5 mice. For **D**, an outlier was removed. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

<u>3.3.6:</u> dual treatment with anti-podoplanin and anti-CD62P is associated with a trend for increased Nb –associated pulmonary pathology during acute infection

Finally, to conclude our analyses on the effect of dual antibody treatment with antipodoplanin and anti-CD62P on the response of mice to Nb infection, we measured the extent of pathology in the lungs of Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice and compared them to mice that had not been treated with blocking antibodies (Nb only mice).

Our results from these experiments indicate a trend for increased pulmonary pathology in Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice, including a trend for increased BAL protein and significantly elevated BAL DNA levels (figure 3.3.6, A) and a trend for increased BAL haemoglobin (figure 3.3.6, B). Furthermore, while qualitative, Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice also exhibit increased morphological damage to lung tissue (figure 3.3.6, D), however, further stereological analyses would be necessary to confirm this.

However, Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice displayed similar worm counts in their lungs relative to non-treated mice (**figure 3.3.6, C**).

In conclusion, although further experiments and analyses are required, our analysis of pulmonary pathology in Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P mice suggests that dual- treatment with anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin may modulate pathology in a manner distinct from single treatment.



<u>Figure 3.3.6</u>: dual treatment with anti-podoplanin and anti-CD62P is associated with a trend for increased Nb –associated pulmonary pathology during acute infection. Mice were treated with anti-podoplanin and anti-CD62P antibodies prior to infection with Nb. Pulmonary pathology was quantified using readouts relating to infiltration of protein and DNA **A**) and haemoglobin **B**) into BAL fluid of untreated (Nb only) and treated (Nb + anti-podo + anti-CD62P) mice. Worm counts in the lungs of treated mice were additionally determined **C**). H & E staining on lung sections was also performed to gain oversight of gross pathology **D**). Arrows point to Nb larvae. N = 4 mice. (Mann-Whitney U-test).

Chapter 4: Discussion

Helminths parasitise a remarkably high number of individuals globally and are a significant public health concern ¹⁰⁹. The life cycle of many different species of helminths entails migration through pulmonary vasculature and tissue and their migration is often associated with marked pulmonary pathology. This is especially apparent in animal models such as murine *N.brasiliensis* infection, where the pulmonary migration of larvae results in the development of severe and persisting emphysematous lesions ¹³⁰. In human helminthiasis, pulmonary migration of helminth parasites is also associated with significant inflammation (Löffler's syndrome) ¹²³ and irreversible lung dysfunction ¹²⁵. While significant headway has been made in our understanding of the cells and factors (both host as well as parasite derived) that impact on the interaction between helminth parasites and their hosts during pulmonary infection ^{102,105,121}, little is known on the function of platelets in this setting, especially with regard to their immunoregulatory capacity. In light of the rapidly growing body of evidence which points to platelets significantly impacting on the pathophysiology and immunity to a variety of other pathogens in the lung ⁵⁰¹⁶³, we hypothesized that platelets also have significant function in pulmonary helminth infection. We believe we have provided firm evidence that this is indeed the case.

Chapter 3.1: Platelets are a feature of the acute innate response to N. brasiliensis infection and associate with the induction of protective responses

Given the paucity of data regarding platelets in helminth infection, our first imperative was to establish whether acute infection with the gastro-intestinal nematode *N. brasiliensis* (Nb) was associated with platelet activation and their localisation to infected (pulmonary) tissue. Analyses of circulatory immune populations at 18 hours post infection revealed that Nb infected mice had elevated levels of platelet-leukocyte complexes (CD45 +, CD41 + cells), elevated platelet expression (MFI) of CD41 and CD62P and increased levels of CD62P+ platelets compared to naïve mice (figure 3.1.1, A-D). Complimenting these data, immunohistochemical analyses of lung sections also revealed localisation of platelets in extravascular lung compartments of Nb infected mice, which was not observed in naïve mice (figure 3.1.1, E). We found that extravascular platelets were typically found in clusters and tended to co-localize with other cells. However, consistent with previous studies showing platelets recruiting independently into the lungs during pulmonary inflammation ⁹², we also observed individual platelets in the lungs of Nb infected mice.

Interestingly, and further supporting the notion that Nb infection led to platelet activation, we were able to detect intravascular thrombi in Nb infected mice (Appendix, figure 5.2). However, we did not find evidence that Nb infection was associated with changes in total platelet counts as Nb infected mice had similar platelet levels to non-infected mice throughout the course of infection (Appendix, figure 5.1). Given that mild thrombocytopenia has been previously reported to occur in a rodent model of *S. mansoni* infection ¹⁶⁴, our data suggest that effect of helminth infection on circulating platelet levels may be parasite -specific.

Having established that platelets become activated and localise to the lung at 18 hours post infection with Nb, we next sought to characterise the acute circulatory and pulmonary innate immune response that develops at this time point. Our rationale behind focusing our analysis on this acute stage of the infection is based on the results of previous studies demonstrating that platelets rapidly respond to infection and critically impact on the initiation of inflammatory processes ⁵⁰. Furthermore, as studies have shown that Nb larvae begin reaching the lung in appreciable numbers within 24 hours of inoculation ¹⁵⁸, this time point would allow us to establish which factors mediate early host control of parasite migration.

In line with previous studies which have shown that the acute innate response to Nb infection in the skin (at 6 hours post infection) ¹⁵⁴ and in the lung (at 2 days post infection) ¹³² is dominated by a neutrophilic response, we found that Nb infection was specifically associated with an increase in the number of circulating neutrophils, but not monocytes or eosinophils (**figure 3.1.2**). In agreement with this, flow cytometric analyses of lung tissue taken at 18 hours post infection also revealed elevated numbers of neutrophils in Nb infected relative to naïve mice (**figure 3.1.3**). Interestingly we also found evidence of early eosinophilia in the lungs of Nb infected mice. This is noteworthy given that eosinophils are not commonly characterised as important effector cells in acute pulmonary Nb infection and are thought to recruit into the lung only following the expression of type 2 cytokines from ILC2s and other early responders ¹⁵⁶. While our data does contrast with previous findings, it is important to point out that we also observed reduced levels of eosinophils in the lungs of platelet depleted mice following infection with Nb (**figure 3.2.3**), which suggested eosinophils were indeed being recruited at this stage. However, whether eosinophils also

have important function at this time point remains unknown. This should be a consideration for future investigations.

After characterisation of the acute innate immune response at 18 hours post infection with Nb, we set out to establish if and how platelets are involved in these responses. The interaction of platelets with immune cells is increasingly recognized as an important mechanism underlying platelet immune function ⁴⁸. We therefore next tested whether Nb infection led to changes in the association of platelets with immune cells. Corroborating previous reports showing platelet interacting with neutrophils and eosinophils in the context of pulmonary inflammation ^{66,86} we found that Nb infected mice had increased levels and numbers of CD41+ neutrophils and eosinophils compared to naïve mice at 18 hours post infection (**figure 3.1.4**). Intriguingly, we also observed increased association of platelets with alveolar macrophages at this time point, suggesting that platelets were also readily entering alveoli during infection. However, whether platelets actively traffic to the alveoli during acute Nb infection, or whether their presence is primarily a result of diffuse disruption of the alveolar-capillary barrier caused by tissue damage, requires further investigation.

To further establish how platelets associate with pulmonary immune responses to acute Nb infection we next sought to ascertain whether platelet-association with immune cells also occurs at later time points post infection. Our analyses revealed that at day 2 post infection , which previous studies have indicated is when the number of Nb larvae reaches its peak ¹⁵⁸ , there was significant association between platelets and leukocytes, including neutrophils , alveolar macrophages and eosinophils **(figure 3.1.5).** Indeed, we observed that a greater proportion of these immune cells were platelet associated at day 2 compared to 18 hours post infection. Furthermore, platelet association with immune cells remained high at day 3 post infection and was similar to the levels seen on day 2 post infection. These data suggest association of platelets with immune cells in the lung is not restricted to the acute setting (i.e., at 18 hours p.i.), but also occurs during later stages of pulmonary Nb infection. The observation that platelet association with immune cells remained elevated after the majority of larvae have migrated away from the lung, raises the possibility that the association of platelets with these immune cells is not only driven by the direct presence of Nb larvae (and presumably , the tissue damage that they cause) but also occurs in the lung
during the initiation of type 2 responses that are aimed at controlling pathology and inducing wound healing responses. In view of this , it is noteworthy that we were able to detect platelet association with macrophages, as these are known to play important roles in regulation of pulmonary inflammation , and in protection from excessive tissue damage ¹⁴². A recent study by Rossaint et al. ⁸⁷ demonstrated that platelet association with immune cells, in particular regulatory T cells (Tregs), is an important feature of resolution of neutrophil-dominated pulmonary inflammation during bacterial pneumonia. Whether a similar mechanism is involved in the resolution of pulmonary inflammation after Nb infection , or whether platelets associate with other protective (type 2) responses crucial for protection against pulmonary pathology ¹²¹ are both questions deserving of further experimental enquiry.

Based on previous studies which have shown that the interaction of platelets with immune cells is associated with significant transcriptional and functional changes ^{48,87} we next examined whether platelet-associated (CD41+) and non-associated (CD41-) circulatory neutrophils exhibited altered phenotype. We chose to focus our analysis on neutrophils based on our earlier findings (outlined in **figure 3.1.2**) showing that neutrophils dominate the early circulatory response to Nb infection. To study the association of platelets with neutrophil phenotype, we used both supervised as well as unsupervised (t-SNE) flow cytometric analysis. We found that platelet associated neutrophils were distinct from non-associated neutrophils and exhibited reduced IFN- γ and increased granzyme B expression (**figure 3.1.6**). Moreover, we observed that the of degree platelet association (i.e., neutrophil MFI of CD41) also correlated with these differences, with CD41 ^{Hi} neutrophils exhibiting reduced expression of IFN- γ and increased expression of granzyme B relative to CD41 ^{Int} neutrophils.

Due to the lack of empirical studies investigating the association of platelets with the expression of these factors in neutrophils, it is difficult to interpret how these findings correlate with previous research. However, IFN-y is known to negatively regulate the expression of CD41 on Basophils ¹⁶⁵ and platelets have been shown to associate with interferon responses in other contexts ¹⁶⁶. Our data is also supported by previous findings which show that IFN-y and RELM- α antagonise each other – a relationship that our data also

108

supports in (**figure 3.1.7**), in which we demonstrate that neutrophil MFI of CD41 strongly associates with the expression of RELM- α .

Furthermore , while platelets have , to the best of our knowledge not been previously associated with neutrophil expression of granzyme B, previous studies have indicated that platelets drive apoptotic mechanisms through their own expression of granzyme B ¹⁶⁷ and have been shown to markedly alter the expression of granzyme B in other cell types ¹⁶⁸. Moreover , a recent study indicated that granzyme B expression was also upregulated in myeloid cells infiltrating the lung during Nb infection ¹⁶⁹, which the authors suggested could play a functional role in anti-parasite immunity. As such, while our results are preliminary and require further exploration, especially with regard to whether platelet interaction drives differences in neutrophil expression of these factors or simply correlates with them, they nonetheless suggest that platelet associated neutrophils are distinct from non-associated neutrophils and therefore that platelets may impact on neutrophil -mediated processes in the context of acute Nb infection.



<u>Figure 4.1</u>: Platelet interaction with neutrophils during acute N.brasiliensis infection is associated with changes in their expression of IFN-y and RELM- α .

Chapter 3.2: Platelets are indispensable for the protection against Nb and neutrophil – associated pulmonary pathology

To further clarify the role of platelets in this study we established a model of Nb infection in thrombocytopenic (platelet depleted) mice. Our model entailed depleting mice of their platelets using antibodies prior to infecting them with Nb. Previous studies have demonstrated that treatment with anti-platelet antibodies results in rapid and marked thrombocytopenia , but that continuous treatments are necessary to sustain low platelet counts ¹⁷⁰. In line with these studies, we found that antibody treated mice in our model had severely diminished platelet levels (< 10 % of non-treated mice) but that levels quickly recovered following treatment (**Appendix, figure 5.3**).

After establishing an effective protocol to deplete mice of their platelets we examined how platelet depleted mice compared to non-depleted mice in the context of pulmonary Nb infection. We observed strikingly enhanced pulmonary pathology in thrombocytopenic mice, which was characterised by marked pulmonary haemorrhaging and significant loss to lung integrity (figure 3.2.1). As a result of this, we found that platelet depleted mice rapidly succumbed to infection and that none of the mice survived past 24 hours. These findings are congruous with other recent studies which have shown platelets to be indispensable for maintaining lung integrity during pulmonary infection ^{78,89,152}.

Interestingly, we also consistently observed lower worm burdens in the lungs of platelet depleted mice relative to non – depleted mice. This suggested that the loss of platelets may also have significant ramifications for anti-parasite immunity, as has been indicated in previous studies ¹⁴⁹. However, given previous studies that have demonstrated that the loss of platelets is associated with higher worm burdens in *S. mansoni* infection ^{149,164}, our data suggest that the role of platelets in mediating anti-parasite immunity may be parasite-specific. Future studies should focus on investigating precise regulatory mechanisms supporting anti-parasitic responses that may be modulated by the in vitro or in vivo presence of platelets and the factors that they release.

We reasoned that the differences observed in pulmonary pathology between plateletdepleted and non-depleted mice was possibly a result of changes in innate immune cells and their phenotype. To this end, we performed detailed flow cytometric analyses on circulatory and lung recruited innate myeloid cells and found that platelet depleted mice exhibited significantly elevated levels of circulatory, but not lung neutrophils and impaired pulmonary recruitment of eosinophils (**figures 3.2.3 and 3.2.4**). In line with expectation, platelet depleted mice also exhibited broad ablation of platelet-leukocyte interaction and had significantly reduced numbers of platelet-leukocyte complexes both in the circulation as well as in the lung. Our observation of circulatory neutrophilia in platelet depleted mice is consistent with other studies using anti-platelet antibodies ¹⁶² and aligns with a growing body of evidence that point to an important role for platelets ¹⁷¹ and their pre-cursor cells ¹⁷² in shaping haematopoiesis, especially during infection.

Furthermore, our observation that platelets may regulate eosinophil recruitment is in accord with the findings of studies demonstrating an important role for platelets in regulating eosinophil recruitment during allergic airway inflammation ⁶⁶. It is important to note that while we did not observe acute differences in neutrophil recruitment to the lung, prior studies do suggest that platelets regulate their recruitment in many other settfuings ¹⁶¹. As such, more research into the role of platelets in innate cell recruitment during pulmonary Nb infection is warranted, to establish whether our findings are specific to the time point that we chose to analyse (i.e., 18 hours post infection).

Drawing on our previous findings in which we identified differences between platelet associated and non-associated neutrophils, we next explored how circulatory neutrophils from platelet depleted and non-depleted mice compared. We found that, similar to CD41(-) neutrophils, neutrophils from platelet depleted mice exhibited increased expression of IFN-y and decreased expression of granzyme B (**figure 3.2.5** and **3.2.6**). In addition, platelet depleted mice also had significantly elevated numbers of IFN-y expressing circulatory neutrophils relative to non-platelet depleted mice. Given previous studies that have suggested that the suppression of IFN-y is important for the induction of protective host responses during acute Nb infection ¹⁶⁰, it is plausible that aberrant expression of IFN-y by neutrophils was contributing towards susceptibility to Nb infection in platelet depleted mice. This was further supported by the observation that platelet depleted mice also had reduced numbers of RELM- α expressing neutrophils in their lungs (**figure 3.2.6**). Interestingly, lung neutrophils from platelet depleted mice also exhibited reduced expression of the receptors Ly6G and CD11b in comparison to neutrophils from non depleted mice. CD11b, which has pleiotropic functions ^{68,173}, is known to support the interaction of neutrophils with platelets ⁴⁸ and has previously been associated with protection from pulmonary pathology during Nb infection ¹⁷⁴. The function of Ly6G on the other hand is less well defined but alterations in Ly6G expression typically align with differences in neutrophil maturation ¹⁷⁵ and aberrant neutrophil responses¹⁷⁶.As such differences in the expression of these receptors may reflect varied function in neutrophils ¹⁷⁷. Notably however, differences in CD11b and Ly6G expression between platelet depleted and non-depleted mice were restricted to lung neutrophils, with few differences being observed between circulatory neutrophils. While speculative, it is possible that these differences only arise once neutrophils leave the circulation and become exposed to the microenvironment of the lung, which is vastly different in platelet depleted versus nondepleted mice. In support of this hypothesis, we observed marked differences in the expression (MFI) between circulatory and lung neutrophils (Appendix, figure 5.4) indicating some degree of receptor down-modulation. Taken together, these data suggest that neutrophils from platelet-depleted mice display aberrant expression of immune-associated factors that are known to play a role in Nb infection, and we hypothesized that they were therefore likely contributing towards susceptibility to infection.

To test this hypothesis, we performed experiments in which we co-depleted mice of their platelets and neutrophils prior to Nb infection. As with platelet – depletion, neutrophil depletion was mediated by the treatment of mice with monoclonal antibodies. While (circulatory) neutrophils levels were not entirely diminished in co-depleted mice (figure **3.2.7**), we did observe a large reduction in the number of lung neutrophils. Importantly, this reduction was associated with markedly less pulmonary pathology in co-depleted mice (figure **3.2.8**), which, as previous studies indicate ¹³², further supports the notion that neutrophils mediate immunopathology during acute Nb infection. Similar to platelet depleted mice however, co-depleted mice also had reduced worm burdens in their lungs (figure **3.2.8**), which implies that neutrophil-independent mechanisms also contribute towards anti-parasite host responses during early Nb infection.

In any case, in line with prior investigations ¹³², our data suggest excessive inflammation

during Nb infection is associated with increased pulmonary pathology and lower worm burdens.

Collectively, our data therefore argue for an important role for platelets in mediating hostpathogen interaction during pulmonary Nb infection and in supporting responses that not only protect the host, but also benefit invading Nb larvae.





Chapter 3.3: Blockade of the platelet receptors CD62P and CLEC-2 during Nb infection associate with changes to platelet -neutrophil interaction and neutrophil phenotype

To provide mechanistic insight into how platelets regulated Nb-associated pulmonary pathology we examined the involvement of specific platelet receptors, namely CD62P (P-selectin) and CLEC-2. To study the role of these receptors in Nb infection we used blocking antibodies that either targeted these receptors directly (anti-CD62P) or targeted their major ligand (anti-podoplanin). CD62P is an adhesive protein which plays notable roles in mediating the interaction of platelets with leukocytes and is heavily implicated in the regulation of neutrophil function ¹⁷⁸.Platelet CLEC-2 on the other hand has significant function in maintaining vascular integrity during pulmonary inflammation ¹⁷⁹ and tightly associates with protective responses in the lung during infection, primarily through its interaction with podoplanin^{78,94}.

We hypothesized that blockade of these receptors would be associated with changes in neutrophil association with platelets, neutrophil function and subsequently, worsened pulmonary pathology during Nb infection. We found that while blocking CD62P was associated with reduced numbers of platelet-neutrophil complexes (figure 3.3.1) this was not accompanied by differences in neutrophil phenotype and did not correlate with changes to Nb associated pulmonary pathology at 18 hours post infection (figure 3.3.2). We were also unable to identify significant differences in the number of innate myeloid cells in the circulation or lung of anti-CD62P treated mice (data not shown). These data suggest that CD62P blockade is not associated with significantly different immunologic and physiologic outcomes in the context of acute Nb infection. However, based on the view that CD62P is primarily impacting innate responses via supporting platelet-neutrophil interaction, we cannot definitively rule out a function for CD62P in acute Nb infection, as mice treated with anti-CD62P still had an appreciable number of platelet-neutrophil complexes (figure 3.3.1). Additionally, given reports of the upregulation of CD62P in other helminth infections ¹⁸⁰, further research into the function of CD62P in Nb infection is warranted, especially at other time points in the infectious cycle.

The indirect targeting of CLEC-2 through antibody-mediated blockade of podoplanin lead to a modest reduction in platelet-neutrophil interaction and, similar to our experiments with platelet depleted mice, was associated with changes in lung neutrophil phenotype (figure **3.3.3**). However, as with CD62P blockade, podoplanin blockade did not lead to lung haemorrhaging or marked differences in pulmonary pathology (figure **3.3.4**). Our data therefore points to a non-essential role for CLEC-2 in maintaining haemostasis and lung integrity in acute Nb infection and indicates that other receptors , e.g. integrin αllbβ3 may be important¹⁷.

Additionally, our data also suggest that the CLEC-2 – podoplanin axis impacts on neutrophil phenotype. While , to the best of our knowledge, this has not been previously reported, CLEC-2 deficiency is associated with changes in neutrophil recruitment ⁷⁸ and with alteration in the expression of factors known to affect neutrophil function ¹⁸¹. In view of this , and the fact that CLEC-2 signalling has also recently been associated with the functioning of

chitinase-like proteins ¹⁸², it would be of considerable interest to ascertain whether CLEC-2 is involved in pulmonary responses downstream of acute infection.

Finally, to investigate the function of CD62P and CLEC-2 in in our model further, we tested the effect of simultaneous blockade of both CD62P and CLEC-2 on pulmonary pathology and circulatory and lung innate cell responses. In mice receiving both anti-CD62P and antipodoplanin blocking antibodies, we observed altered platelet responses and modest circulatory neutrophilia, as well as changes in lung neutrophil phenotype (figure 3.3.5). Interestingly, simultaneous blockade of CD62P and CLEC-2 was not associated with changes in platelet-neutrophil interaction, which suggests that the blocking antibodies have nonadditive effects when administered together. Intriguingly, dual blockade was associated with a strong trend for increased pathology in treated mice (figure 3.3.6). While these data, in contrast to our earlier findings, do implicate CD62P and CLEC-2 in platelet regulation of pathology during acute Nb infection, they are limited by our incomplete understanding of how anti-CD62P and anti-podoplanin interact (in their effect) when administered together in our model and by the fact that expression of these receptors is not restricted to platelets ¹⁸³. Nonetheless, our data do establish a role for these receptors in regulating plateletneutrophil responses and indicate that further research into platelet receptors during Nb infection is warranted



<u>Figure 4.3</u> : Blockade of platelet receptors leads to changes in the interaction of neutrophils with platelets in the lung and is associated with alterations in neutrophil phenotype .

Conclusion

The data produced throughout this project is some of the first regarding the role of platelets in acute responses to pulmonary helminth infection. While previous studies have implicated platelets in resistance to helminths ¹⁸⁴, this study is the first to provide compelling evidence that platelets are essential mediators of immune responses during helminth infection and the first to show that they are inextricably linked to the pathophysiology of pulmonary helminth infection. In doing so, this project notably advances our understanding on the cells and crucial mechanisms underlying host-pathogen interaction in the lung and offers insight into why it is that the migration of these remarkably large parasites does not cause lethal pathology.

Here, we report that platelets become activated following infection with the nematode *N. brasiliensis* (Nb) and traffic to the lung, where they interact with principal immune cells, such as neutrophils, to modulate their expression of factors that drive acute innate responses. Furthermore, we show that the depletion of platelets prior to Nb infection results in markedly enhanced pulmonary pathology and associates with aberrant neutrophil responses, which can be partially corrected through co-depletion of platelets with neutrophils. Finally, we demonstrate that the platelet receptors CLEC-2 and CD62P regulate the interaction of platelets with neutrophils and potentially neutrophil function during Nb infection but have little impact on protecting against Nb-associated acute pathology.

Future work

While this project has contributed significant knowledge towards our understanding of platelets in the context of helminth infection, much is still to be learned and numerous questions yet remain. In the specific setting of the model used to explore platelet-regulated functions in this project, many lingering questions relate to platelet-regulation of neutrophils and how this impacts immunopathology and anti-parasitic immunity. This could be explored in the future by investigating the association of platelets with specific neutrophil effector responses , such as their production of ROS and NETs, which are

regulated by platelets and the factors that they produce ¹⁸⁵ in other settings⁷⁵ and are known to contribute towards immunity to Nb ¹⁵⁴. Closely tied to this, it would also be of great interest to understand how the absence of platelets impacts on other known markers of neutrophil heterogeneity ¹⁷⁵ and whether platelets preferentially associate or influence neutrophil subpopulations, such as MDSCs ¹⁸⁶ or LDNs ¹⁷⁷. Additionally, to further examine the mechanism proposed in this project it would be crucial to investigate the effect of IFN-y and granzyme B blockade on pathogenesis of in platelet depleted mice, and to correlate differences in the expression of these factors with altered immunity during primary and secondary infection in non-depleted mice.

Further to this, future studies should seek to identify specific responses that associate with the lower worm burdens observed in severely thrombocytopenic mice, and to delineate how absolute platelet count, platelet-derived factors ¹⁸⁷ and Nb–associated haemorrhaging ¹⁸⁸ impact on worm viability. These features could be elucidated through complimentary murine models of thrombocytopenia ¹⁵², or through specific adaptations of the model employed within this project, for instance, by temporally controlling for neutrophilia mediated by treatment with platelet depleting antibodies. It may also prove insightful to alter the infectious dose used in the model to increase the sensitivity of identifying specific immunologic correlates of protection, as has been demonstrated in other studies ¹⁸⁹. Equally, altering the time point at which platelets are depleted will give important insight into time dependent effects – which are known to occur in other settings ^{190,191}.

Moreover, as outlined previously, it would be of significant interest to further investigate how platelets associate with the induction of type 2 immune responses in the lung following acute infection, and how they influence fibrotic and emphysematous pathology. Closely tied to this, it would also be of major interest to explore how platelets interface with mechanisms involved in helminth–mediated immunomodulation, given platelet association with TGF- β production ³¹ and regulatory T cell (Treg) responses in other contexts ⁸⁷.

Ultimately, to establish a more holistic understanding of platelets in helminth infection however, future investigations will necessarily have to explore the immunologic functions of platelets at other sites of infection. In the context of Nb infection, this should entail focused investigations into how platelets impact on immune responses in the intestines, as this is where patency, and in many cases, clinical disease develops. In particular, given the vast variety of growth factors ²⁶ and factors associated with neuronal functions ¹⁶ that platelets store in their granules, it would be salient to understand how they impact on epithelial cell responses and smooth muscle contractions. As in the lung, a detailed comprehension of platelets in this setting would also have significant impact on our understanding of the factors supporting recall immunity during helminth infection. Given these theoretical associations and our empirical data, it therefore seems extremely likely that platelet-related research in the future will provide important insight into mechanisms underlying the interaction of helminth parasites with their hosts.

Appendix



<u>Figure 5.1</u>: Nb infection is not associated with changes in circulatory platelet counts. Mice were infected with Nb, and tail blood was collected at several time points post infection. Flow cytometric analyses of platelet in the circulation of Nb infected mice was performed and levels compared to naïve mice **A**). Mouse weights were also taken at respective time points **B**).



Figure 5.2: Immunohistochemical staining of CD41 in the lungs of Nb infected mice. Lungs were sampled at 18 hours post infection with Nb and stained with polyclonal anti-CD41 antibodies. Spleen tissue was used as a positive control (negative control = no anti-CD41 antibody **A**). Additionally, Lung staining was compared between platelet depleted and non-depleted mice **B**).



<u>Figure 5.3</u>: treatment with anti-CD41 leads to severe thrombocytopenia. Mice were treated with anti-CD41 antibodies to deplete platelets. To confirm the efficacy of depletion, blood was collected from treated and naïve mice, and the levels of platelets determined by flow cytometry **A**). Treated mice were also monitored for several days to confirm safety of the treatment **B**). Flow cytometric analysis of blood samples taken at day 1, day 3 and day 5 post treatment was performed to determine the duration of platelet depletion **C**). Platelet depletion was also confirmed in the context of Nb (Nippo) infection **D**). Statistical differences were investigated with Mann-Whitney U-test.



<u>Figure 5.4</u>: Circulatory and lung neutrophils differentially express neutrophil receptors. Flow cytometric analysis of blood and lung neutrophils from Nb only and Nb + anti-CD41 mice was performed and the MFI of Ly6G **A**) and CD11b **B**) was determined. Paired t-tests were used to test for statistical differences.

References

- 1. Broos, K., Feys, H. B., De Meyer, S. F., Vanhoorelbeke, K. & Deckmyn, H. Platelets at work in primary hemostasis. *Blood Rev.* **25**, 155–167 (2011).
- 2. Sang, Y., Roest, M., de Laat, B., de Groot, P. G. & Huskens, D. Interplay between platelets and coagulation. *Blood Reviews* vol. 46 (2021).
- 3. Broos, K., De Meyer, S. F., Feys, H. B., Vanhoorelbeke, K. & Deckmyn, H. Blood platelet biochemistry. *Thromb. Res.* **129**, 245–249 (2012).
- Estevez, B. & Du, X. New concepts and mechanisms of platelet activation signaling. *Physiology* 32, 162–177 (2017).
- 5. Li, Z., Delaney, M. K., O'Brien, K. A. & Du, X. Signaling during platelet adhesion and activation. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **30**, 2341–2349 (2010).
- 6. Gaertner, F. *et al.* Migrating Platelets Are Mechano-scavengers that Collect and Bundle Bacteria. *Cell* **171**, 1368-1382.e23 (2017).
- 7. Jurk, K., Ph, D., Kehrel, B. E. & Ph, D. Platelets : Physiology and Biochemistry. **1**, 381–392 (2005).
- 8. Ho-Tin-Noé, B., Boulaftali, Y. & Camerer, E. Platelets and vascular integrity: How platelets prevent bleeding in inflammation. *Blood* **131**, 277–288 (2018).
- 9. Boulaftali, Y. *et al.* Platelet ITAM signaling is critical for vascular integrity in infammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* **123**, 908–916 (2013).
- 10. Martinod, K. & Deppermann, C. Immunothrombosis and thromboinflammation in host defense and disease. *Platelets* **00**, 1–11 (2020).
- 11. Wu, F. *et al.* Classification and characterization of hemocytes from two Asian horseshoe crab species Tachypleus tridentatus and Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda. *Sci. Rep.* **9**, 1–10 (2019).
- 12. Guo, L. & Rondina, M. T. The Era of Thromboinflammation: Platelets Are Dynamic Sensors and Effector Cells During Infectious Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, 1–14 (2019).
- 13. Nieswandt, B., Kleinschnitz, C. & Stoll, G. Ischaemic stroke: A thrombo-inflammatory disease? *J. Physiol.* **589**, 4115–4123 (2011).
- 14. Elvers, M. *et al.* Impaired αiibβ3 integrin activation and shear-dependent thrombus formation in mice lacking phospholipase D1. *Sci. Signal.* **3**, 1–18 (2010).
- Blair, P. *et al.* Stimulation of Toll-Like Receptor 2 in Human Platelets Induces a Thromboinflammatory Response Through Activation of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase. *Circ. Res.* 104, 346–354 (2009).
- 16. Ponomarev, E. D. Fresh evidence for platelets as neuronal and innate immune cells: Their role in the activation, differentiation, and deactivation of Th1, Th17, and tregs during tissue inflammation. *Front. Immunol.* **9**, 1–7 (2018).
- 17. Rayes, J., Watson, S. P. & Nieswandt, B. Functional significance of the platelet immune receptors GPVI and CLEC-2. *J. Clin. Invest.* **129**, 12–23 (2019).
- 18. Engelmann, B. & Massberg, S. Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **13**, 34–45 (2013).
- 19. Iba, T. & Levy, J. H. Inflammation and thrombosis: roles of neutrophils, platelets and

endothelial cells and their interactions in thrombus formation during sepsis. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **16**, 231–241 (2018).

- 20. Luo, D. *et al.* Protective Roles for Fibrin, Tissue Factor, Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1, and Thrombin Activatable Fibrinolysis Inhibitor, but Not Factor XI, during Defense against the Gram-Negative Bacterium Yersinia enterocolitica . *J. Immunol.* **187**, 1866–1876 (2011).
- 21. Massberg, S. *et al.* Reciprocal coupling of coagulation and innate immunity via neutrophil serine proteases. *Nat. Med.* **16**, 887–896 (2010).
- 22. Kral, J. B., Schrottmaier, W. C., Salzmann, M. & Assinger, A. Platelet Interaction with Innate Immune Cells. *Transfus. Med. Hemotherapy* **43**, 78–88 (2016).
- 23. Coden, M. E. & Berdnikovs, S. Eosinophils in wound healing and epithelial remodeling: Is coagulation a missing link? *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **108**, 93–103 (2020).
- 24. Nicolai, L. & Massberg, S. Platelets as key players in inflammation and infection. *Curr. Opin. Hematol.* **27**, 34–40 (2020).
- 25. Nachman, R. L. & Polley, M. The platelet as an inflammatory cell. *Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc.* Vol. 90, 38–43 (1978).
- 26. Golebiewska, E. M. & Poole, A. W. Platelet secretion: From haemostasis to wound healing and beyond. *Blood Rev.* (2015) doi:10.1016/j.blre.2014.10.003.
- 27. Hayward, C., Moore, J., Bainton, D., Cote, G. Factor V Is Complexed with Multimerin in Resting Platelet Lysates and Colocalizes with Multimerin in Platelet alpha-granules. (1995).
- 28. Meyers, K. M., Holmsen, H. & Seachord, C. L. Comparative study of platelet dense granule constituents. *Am. J. Physiol. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* **243**, R454–R461 (2017).
- 29. Morrell, C. N., Pariser, D. N., Hilt, Z. T. & Vega Ocasio, D. The Platelet Napoleon Complex— Small Cells, but Big Immune Regulatory Functions. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **37**, 125–144 (2019).
- 30. Takeda, T. *et al.* Platelets constitutively express IL-33 protein and modulate eosinophilic airway inflammation. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **138**, 1395-1403.e6 (2016).
- 31. Karolczak, K. & Watala, C. Blood platelets as an important but underrated circulating source of tgfβ. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **22**, (2021).
- 32. Portier, I. & Campbell, R. A. Role of Platelets in Detection and Regulation of Infection. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 70–78 (2020) doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.314645.
- Blair, P. & Flaumenhaft, R. Platelet α-granules: Basic biology and clinical correlates. *Blood Rev.* 23, 177–189 (2009).
- 34. Krammer, T. L., Mayr, M. & Hackl, M. Micrornas as promising biomarkers of platelet activity in antiplatelet therapy monitoring. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **21**, (2020).
- 35. Laffont, B. *et al.* Platelet microparticles reprogram macrophage gene expression and function. *Thromb. Haemost.* **115**, 311–323 (2016).
- 36. Battinelli, E. M. *et al.* Megakaryocytes package contents into separate a-granules that are differentially distributed in platelets. *Blood Adv.* **3**, 3092–3098 (2019).
- 37. Rayes, J., Bourne, J. H., Brill, A. & Watson, S. P. The dual role of platelet-innate immune cell interactions in thrombo-inflammation. *Res. Pract. Thromb. Haemost.* **4**, 23–35 (2020).
- 38. Gaertner, F. & Massberg, S. Patrolling the vascular borders: platelets in immunity to infection

and cancer. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 19, 747-760 (2019).

- Noetzli, L. J., French, S. L. & Machlus, K. R. New insights into the differentiation of megakaryocytes from hematopoietic progenitors. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 39, 1288– 1300 (2019).
- 40. van der Meijden, P. E. J. & Heemskerk, J. W. M. Platelet biology and functions: new concepts and clinical perspectives. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* **16**, 166–179 (2019).
- 41. Al-Huniti, A. & Kahr, W. H. Inherited Platelet Disorders: Diagnosis and Management. *Transfus. Med. Rev.* **34**, 277–285 (2020).
- 42. Assinger, A., Schrottmaier, W. C., Salzmann, M. & Rayes, J. Platelets in sepsis: An update on experimental models and clinical data. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, 1–19 (2019).
- 43. Yun, S. H., Sim, E. H., Goh, R. Y., Park, J. I. & Han, J. Y. Platelet activation: The mechanisms and potential biomarkers. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2016**, 10–15 (2016).
- 44. Semple, J. W., Italiano, J. E. & Freedman, J. Platelets and the immune continuum. *Nature Reviews Immunology* vol. 11 264–274 (2011).
- 45. Yeaman, M. R. Platelets: At the nexus of antimicrobial defence. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **12**, 426–437 (2014).
- 46. Cornelius, D. C. *et al.* NLRP3 inflammasome inhibition attenuates sepsis-induced platelet activation and prevents multi-organ injury in cecal-ligation puncture. *PLoS One* **15**, 1–15 (2020).
- 47. Serrano Cardona, L. & Muñoz Mata, E. Complement Activation on Platelets: Implications for Vascular Inflammation and Thrombosis. *Early Hum. Dev.* **83**, 1–11 (2013).
- 48. Dib, P. R. B. *et al.* Innate immune receptors in platelets and platelet-leukocyte interactions. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **108**, 1157–1182 (2020).
- 49. Arshad, M. I., Piquet-Pellorce, C. & Samson, M. IL-33 and HMGB1 alarmins: Sensors of cellular death and their involvement in liver pathology. *Liver Int.* **32**, 1200–1210 (2012).
- 50. Koupenova, M., Clancy, L., Corkrey, H. A. & Freedman, J. E. Circulating platelets as mediators of immunity, inflammation, and thrombosis. *Circ. Res.* **122**, 337–351 (2018).
- 51. Wong, C. H. Y., Jenne, C. N., Petri, B., Chrobok, N. L. & Kubes, P. Nucleation of platelets with blood-borne pathogens on Kupffer cells precedes other innate immunity and contributes to bacterial clearance. *Nat. Immunol.* **14**, 785–792 (2013).
- 52. Herter, J. M., Rossaint, J. & Zarbock, A. Platelets in inflammation and immunity. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **12**, 1764–1775 (2014).
- 53. Amison, R. T. *et al.* Platelet depletion impairs host defense to pulmonary infection with pseudomonas aeruginosa in mice. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **58**, 331–340 (2018).
- 54. Semple, J. W., Italiano, J. E. & Freedman, J. Platelets and the immune continuum. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **11**, 264–274 (2011).
- 55. Soehnlein, O. Decision shaping neutrophil-platelet interplay in inflammation: From physiology to intervention. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* **48**, 1–7 (2018).
- 56. Maouia, A., Rebetz, J., Kapur, R. & Semple, J. W. The Immune Nature of Platelets Revisited. *Transfus. Med. Rev.* **34**, 209–220 (2020).

- 57. Gleissner, C. A., Von Hundelshausen, P. & Ley, K. Platelet chemokines in vascular disease. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **28**, 1920–1927 (2008).
- 58. Kuligowski, M. P., Kitching, A. R. & Hickey, M. J. Leukocyte Recruitment to the Inflamed Glomerulus: A Critical Role for Platelet-Derived P-Selectin in the Absence of Rolling. *J. Immunol.* **176**, 6991–6999 (2006).
- 59. von Hundelshausen, P., Koenen, R. R. & Weber, C. Platelet-mediated enhancement of leukocyte adhesion. *Microcirculation* **16**, 84–96 (2009).
- 60. Pitchford, S. C. *et al.* Platelet P-selectin is required for pulmonary eosinophil and lymphocyte recruitment in a murine model of allergic inflammation. *Blood* **105**, 2074–2081 (2005).
- 61. Duerschmied, D. *et al.* Platelet serotonin promotes the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of acute inflammation in mice. *Blood* **121**, 1008–1015 (2013).
- 62. Zarbock, A., Singbartl, K. & Ley, K. Complete reversal of acid-induced acute lung injury by blocking of platelet-neutrophil aggregation. *J. Clin. Invest.* **116**, 3211–3219 (2006).
- 63. Li, N. Platelet-lymphocyte cross-talk. J. Leukoc. Biol. 83, 1069–1078 (2008).
- 64. Grommes, J. *et al.* Disruption of platelet-derived chemokine heteromers prevents neutrophil extravasation in acute lung injury. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **185**, 628–636 (2012).
- 65. van Gils, J. M., Zwaginga, J. J. & Hordijk, P. L. Molecular and functional interactions among monocytes, platelets, and endothelial cells and their relevance for cardiovascular diseases. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **85**, 195–204 (2009).
- 66. Shah, S. A., Page, C. P. & Pitchford, S. C. Platelet-eosinophil interactions as a potential therapeutic target in allergic inflammation and asthma. *Front. Med.* **4**, (2017).
- 67. Constantinescu-Bercu, A. *et al.* Activated αIIbβ3 on platelets mediates flow-dependent NETosis via SLC44A2. *bioRxiv* **3**, 1–32 (2018).
- 68. Wang, Y. *et al.* Leukocyte integrin Mac-1 regulates thrombosis via interaction with platelet GPIbα. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, (2017).
- 69. Zuchtriegel, G. *et al.* Platelets Guide Leukocytes to Their Sites of Extravasation. *PLoS Biol.* **14**, 1–28 (2016).
- 70. Ribeiro, L. S., Branco, L. M. & Franklin, B. S. Regulation of innate immune responses by platelets. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, 1–9 (2019).
- 71. Assinger, A. *et al.* Efficient phagocytosis of periodontopathogens by neutrophils requires plasma factors, platelets and TLR2. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **9**, 799–809 (2011).
- 72. Ortiz-Muñoz, G. *et al.* Aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxin a 4 regulates neutrophil-platelet aggregation and attenuates acute lung injury in mice. *Blood* **124**, 2625–2634 (2014).
- 73. Clark, S. R. *et al.* Platelet TLR4 activates neutrophil extracellular traps to ensnare bacteria in septic blood. *Nat. Med.* **13**, 463–469 (2007).
- 74. Kim, S.-J. *et al.* Platelet-Mediated NET Release Amplifies Coagulopathy and Drives Lung Pathology During Severe Influenza Infection. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 1–14 (2021).
- Zucoloto, A. Z. & Jenne, C. N. Platelet-Neutrophil Interplay: Insights Into Neutrophil Extracellular Trap (NET)-Driven Coagulation in Infection. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 6, 1–8 (2019).

- 76. Suzuki, J. *et al.* Cytokine secretion from human monocytes potentiated by P-selectinmediated cell adhesion. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* **160**, 152–160 (2013).
- 77. Carestia, A. *et al.* Platelets Promote Macrophage Polarization toward Pro-inflammatory Phenotype and Increase Survival of Septic Mice. *Cell Rep.* 896–908 (2019) doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06.062.
- Lax, S. *et al.* Platelet CLEC-2 protects against lung injury via effects of its ligand podoplanin on inflammatory alveolar macrophages in the mouse. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 313, L1016–L1029 (2017).
- 79. Amison, R. T. *et al.* Platelets play a central role in sensitization to allergen. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **59**, 96–103 (2018).
- 80. Koupenova, M., Clancy, L., Corkrey, H. A. & Freedman, J. E. Circulating platelets as mediators of immunity, inflammation, and thrombosis. *Circ. Res.* **122**, 337–351 (2018).
- 81. Marx, C. *et al.* Eosinophil-platelet interactions promote atherosclerosis and stabilize thrombosis with eosinophil extracellular traps. **134**, 1859–1872 (2019).
- 82. Iannacone, M. Platelet-mediated modulation of adaptive immunity. *Semin. Immunol.* **28**, 555–560 (2016).
- 83. Marcoux, G., Laroche, A., Espinoza Romero, J. & Boilard, E. Role of platelets and megakaryocytes in adaptive immunity. *Platelets* **00**, 1–12 (2020).
- 84. Borges, I. et al. Lung as a Niche for Hematopoietic Progenitors. 13, 567–574 (2018).
- 85. Caudrillier, A. *et al.* The lung is a site of platelet biogenesis and a reservoir for hematopoietic progenitors Emma. *Nature* **544**, 105–109 (2017).
- 86. Middleton, E. A., Weyrich, A. S. & Zimmerman, G. A. Platelets in pulmonary immune responses and inflammatory lung diseases. *Physiol. Rev.* **96**, 1211–1259 (2016).
- 87. Rossaint, J. *et al.* Platelets orchestrate the resolution of pulmonary inflammation in mice by T reg cell repositioning and macrophage education. *J. Exp. Med.* **218**, (2021).
- 88. Jenne, C. N. & Kubes, P. Platelets in inflammation and infection. *Platelets* 26, 286–292 (2015).
- 89. Tischler, B. Y., Tosini, N. L., Cramer, R. A. & Hohl, T. M. Platelets are critical for survival and tissue integrity during murine pulmonary Aspergillus fumigatus infection. *PLoS Pathog.* **16**, 1–20 (2020).
- 90. Dixon, J. T., Gozal, E. & Roberts, A. M. Platelet-mediated vascular dysfunction during acute lung injury. *Arch. Physiol. Biochem.* **118**, 72–82 (2012).
- 91. Engelberts, D. & Kavanagh, B. P. Mechanical Ventilation Induces Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation. 864–875 (2015).
- 92. Shah, S. A. *et al.* Platelets independently recruit into asthmatic lungs and models of allergic inflammation via CCR3. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **64**, 557–568 (2021).
- 93. Allaoui, A. *et al.* Platelet Function in Viral Immunity and SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Semin. Thromb. Hemost.* **47**, 419–426 (2021).
- 94. Rayes, J. *et al.* The podoplanin-CLEC-2 axis inhibits inflammation in sepsis. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, (2017).
- 95. Clemetson, K. J. Platelets and pathogens. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 67, 495–498 (2010).

- 96. Bruschi, F. Helminth Infections and their Impact on Global Public Health. Helminth Infections and their Impact on Global Public Health (2014). doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-1782-8.
- 97. Hotez, P. J. *et al.* Helminth infections : the great neglected tropical diseases Find the latest version : Review series Helminth infections : the great neglected tropical diseases. *J. Clin. Invest.* **118**, 1311–1321 (2008).
- Mughini-Gras, L., Harms, M., van Pelt, W., Pinelli, E. & Kortbeek, T. Seroepidemiology of human Toxocara and Ascaris infections in the Netherlands. *Parasitol. Res.* **115**, 3779–3794 (2016).
- 99. Jourdan, P. M., Lamberton, P. H. L., Fenwick, A. & Addiss, D. G. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. *Lancet* **391**, 252–265 (2018).
- 100. Tinkler, S. H. Preventive chemotherapy and anthelmintic resistance of soil-transmitted helminths Can we learn nothing from veterinary medicine? *One Heal.* **9**, 100106 (2020).
- 101. Hewitson, J. P. & Maizels, R. M. Vaccination against helminth parasite infections. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* **13**, 473–487 (2014).
- 102. Inclan-Rico, J. M. & Siracusa, M. C. First Responders: Innate Immunity to Helminths. *Trends Parasitol.* **34**, 861–880 (2018).
- 103. Montaño, K. J., Cuéllar, C. & Sotillo, J. Rodent Models for the Study of Soil-Transmitted Helminths: A Proteomics Approach. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **11**, 1–12 (2021).
- 104. Bouchery, T. *et al.* The Study of Host Immune Responses Elicited by the Model Murine Hookworms Nippostrongylus brasiliensis and Heligmosomoides polygyrus. *Curr. Protoc. Mouse Biol.* **7**, 236–286 (2017).
- 105. Weatherhead, J. E. *et al.* Host Immunity and Inflammation to Pulmonary Helminth Infections. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 1–14 (2020).
- 106. Loukas, A. et al. Hookworm infection. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 2, (2016).
- 107. Tandoh, M. A., Mills-Robertson, F. C., Wilson, M. D. & Anderson, A. K. Nutritional and cognitive deficits of school-age children. *Nutr. Food Sci.* **50**, 443–462 (2020).
- 108. Li, P., Rios Coronado, P. E., Longstaff, X. R. R., Tarashansky, A. J. & Wang, B. Nanomedicine Approaches Against Parasitic Worm Infections. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **7**, 1–18 (2018).
- 109. Bethony, J. *et al.* Soil-transmitted helminth infections: ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm. *Lancet* **367**, 1521–1532 (2006).
- 110. Maizels, R. M. & McSorley, H. J. Regulation of the host immune system by helminth parasites. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **138**, 666–675 (2016).
- 111. Maizels, R. M., Hewitson, J. P. & Smith, K. A. Susceptibility and immunity to helminth parasites. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **24**, 459–466 (2012).
- 112. Saenz, S. A. *et al.* IL25 elicits a multipotent progenitor cell population that promotes T H 2 cytokine responses. *Nature* **464**, 1362–1366 (2010).
- 113. Nelms, K., Keegan, A. D., Zamorano, J., Ryan, J. J. & Paul, W. E. The IL-4 receptor: signaling mechanisms and biologic functions. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **17**, 701–738 (1999).
- 114. Marillier, R. G. *et al.* IL-4/IL-13 independent goblet cell hyperplasia in experimental helminth infections. *BMC Immunol.* **9**, 1–9 (2008).

- 115. Von Moltke, J., Ji, M., Liang, H. E. & Locksley, R. M. Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. *Nature* **529**, 221–225 (2016).
- 116. Thawer, S. *et al.* Surfactant Protein-D Is Essential for Immunity to Helminth Infection. *PLoS Pathog.* **12**, 1–18 (2016).
- Horsnell, W. G. C. *et al.* IL-4Rα-responsive smooth muscle cells contribute to initiation of TH2 immunity and pulmonary pathology in Nippostrongylus brasiliensis infections. *Mucosal Immunol.* 4, 83–92 (2011).
- 118. Horsnell, W. G. C. *et al.* IL-4Rα-Associated Antigen Processing by B Cells Promotes Immunity in Nippostrongylus brasiliensis Infection. *PLoS Pathog.* **9**, 1–12 (2013).
- 119. Darby, M. *et al.* The M3 Muscarinic Receptor Is Required for Optimal Adaptive Immunity to Helminth and Bacterial Infection. *PLoS Pathog.* **11**, 1–15 (2015).
- Yap, G. S. & Gause, W. C. Helminth infections induce tissue tolerance mitigating immunopathology but enhancing microbial pathogen susceptibility. *Front. Immunol.* 9, 1–10 (2018).
- 121. Chen, F. *et al.* An essential role for T H 2-type responses in limiting acute tissue damage during experimental helminth infection. *Nat. Med.* **18**, 260–266 (2012).
- 122. Gause, W. C., Rothlin, C. & Loke, P. Heterogeneity in the initiation, development and function of type 2 immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **20**, 603–614 (2020).
- 123. Else, K. J. et al. Whipworm and roundworm infections. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 6, (2020).
- 124. Chitkara, R. K. & Krishna, G. Parasitic Pulmonary Eosinophilia. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* **27**, 171–184 (2006).
- 125. Jõgi, N. O. *et al.* Ascaris exposure and its association with lung function, asthma, and DNA methylation in Northern Europe. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 1–10 (2022) doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2021.11.013.
- 126. Lassen, B. *et al.* Serological evidence of exposure to globally relevant zoonotic parasites in the Estonian population. *PLoS One* **11**, 1–13 (2016).
- 127. De Silva, N. R. *et al.* Soil-transmitted helminth infections: Updating the global picture. *Trends Parasitol.* **19**, 547–551 (2003).
- 128. Harvie, M. *et al.* The lung is an important site for priming CD4 T-cell-mediated protective immunity against gastrointestinal helminth parasites. *Infect. Immun.* **78**, 3753–3762 (2010).
- 129. Mearns, H. *et al.* Interleukin-4-promoted T helper 2 responses enhance Nippostrongylus brasiliensis-induced pulmonary pathology. *Infect. Immun.* **76**, 5535–5542 (2008).
- 130. Marsland, B. J., Kurrer, M., Reissmann, R., Harris, N. L. & Kopf, M. Nippostrongylus brasiliensis infection leads to the development of emphysema associated with the induction of alternatively activated macrophages. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **38**, 479–488 (2008).
- 131. Perrigoue, J. G., Marshall, F. A. & Artis, D. On the hunt for helminths: Innate immune cells in the recognition and response to helminth parasites. *Cell. Microbiol.* **10**, 1757–1764 (2008).
- 132. Sutherland, T. E. *et al.* Chitinase-like proteins promote IL-17-mediated neutrophilia in a tradeoff between nematode killing and host damage. *Nat. Immunol.* **15**, 1116–1125 (2014).
- 133. Chen, F. *et al.* Neutrophils prime a long-lived effector macrophage phenotype that mediates accelerated helminth expulsion. *Nat. Immunol.* **15**, 938–946 (2014).

- Stempin, C. C., Dulgerian, L. R., Garrido, V. V. & Cerban, F. M. Arginase in parasitic infections: Macrophage activation, immunosuppression, and intracellular signals. *J. Biomed. Biotechnol.* 2010, (2010).
- 135. Stütz, A. M. *et al.* The Th2 Cell Cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 Regulate Found in Inflammatory Zone 1/Resistin-Like Molecule α Gene Expression by a STAT6 and CCAAT/Enhancer-Binding Protein-Dependent Mechanism. *J. Immunol.* **170**, 1789–1796 (2003).
- 136. Chang, N. C. A. *et al.* A Macrophage Protein, Ym1, Transiently Expressed during Inflammation Is a Novel Mammalian Lectin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 17497–17506 (2001).
- 137. Batugedara, H. M. *et al.* Hematopoietic cell-derived RELMα regulates hookworm immunity through effects on macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **104**, 855–869 (2018).
- 138. Krljanac, B. *et al.* RELM-expressing macrophages protect against fatal lung damage and reduce parasite burden during helminth infection. *Sci. Immunol.* **4**, 1–12 (2019).
- 139. Nair, M. G. *et al.* Alternatively activated macrophage-derived RELM-α is a negative regulator of type 2 inflammation in the lung. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 937–952 (2009).
- 140. Lidia, B. *et al.* Macrophage function in tissue repair and remodeling requires IL-4 or IL-13 with apoptotic cells. *Science (80-.).* **356**, 1072–1076 (2017).
- 141. Minutti, C. M. *et al.* Local amplifiers of IL-4Ra-mediated macrophage activation promote repair in lung and liver. *Science (80-.).* **356**, 1076–1080 (2017).
- 142. Lechner, A., Bohnacker, S. & Esser-von Bieren, J. Macrophage regulation & function in helminth infection. *Semin. Immunol.* **53**, 101526 (2021).
- 143. Thawer, S. G. *et al.* Lung-resident CD4+ T cells are sufficient for IL-4R-dependent recall immunity to Nippostrongylus brasiliensis infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* **7**, 239–248 (2014).
- 144. Pritchard, D. I. & Furmidge, B. The anti-haemostatic strategies of the human hookworm Necator americanus. *Thromb. Haemost.* **73**, 546 (1995).
- 145. Blackburn, C. C. & Selkirk, M. E. Inactivation of platelet-activating factor by a putative acetylhydrolase from the gastrointestinal nematode parasite Nippostrongylus brasiliensis. *Immunology* **75**, 41–46 (1992).
- 146. Mebius, M. M. *et al.* Interference with the Host Haemostatic System by Schistosomes. *PLoS Pathog.* **9**, 1–8 (2013).
- 147. Joseph, M., Auriault, C., Capron, A., Vorng, H. & Viens, P. A new function for platelets: IgEdependent killing of schistosomes. *Nature* vol. 303 810–812 (1983).
- 148. Da'Dara, A. A. & Skelly, P. J. Schistosomes versus platelets. *Thromb. Res.* **134**, 1176–1181 (2014).
- 149. Damonneville, M., Pancré, V., Capron, A. & Auriault, C. Protection of Rats against Schistosoma mansoni Infection Induced by Platelets Stimulated with the Murine Recombinant Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 92, 361–363 (1990).
- Stanley, R. G., Ngaiza, J. R., Wambayi, E., Lewis, J. & Doenhoff, M. J. Platelets as an innate defence mechanism against Schistosoma mansoni infections in mice. *Parasite Immunol.* 25, 467–473 (2003).
- 151. Herd, O. J. *et al.* Bone marrow remodeling supports hematopoiesis in response to immune thrombocytopenia progression in mice. *Blood Adv.* **5**, 4877–4889 (2021).

- 152. Bain, W. *et al.* Platelets inhibit apoptotic lung epithelial cell death and protect mice against infection-induced lung injury. *Blood Adv.* **3**, 432–445 (2019).
- 153. Fox, K. A. *et al.* Platelets regulate pulmonary inflammation and tissue destruction in tuberculosis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **198**, 245–255 (2018).
- 154. Bouchery, T. *et al.* Hookworms Evade Host Immunity by Secreting a Deoxyribonuclease to Degrade Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. *Cell Host Microbe* **27**, 277-289.e6 (2020).
- 155. Hernandez, J. D. *et al.* A FACS-based approach to obtain viable eosinophils from human adipose tissue. *Sci. Rep.* **10**, 1–12 (2020).
- 156. Schwartz, C., Hams, E. & Fallon, P. G. Helminth Modulation of Lung Inflammation. *Trends Parasitol.* **34**, 388–403 (2018).
- 157. Ajendra, J. *et al.* IL-17A both initiates (via IFNγ suppression) and limits the pulmonary type-2 immune response to nematode infection. (2019).
- 158. A. W. Stadnyk, P. J. McElroy, J. G. and A. D. B. Characterization of Nippostrongylus brasiliensis Infection in Different Strains of Mice. *J. Parasitol.* **76**, 377–382 (1990).
- 159. Coakley, G. & Harris, N. L. Interactions between macrophages and helminths. Parasite Immunology vol. 42 (2020).
- 160. Ajendra, J. *et al.* IL-17A both initiates, via IFNγ suppression, and limits the pulmonary type-2 immune response to nematode infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* **13**, 958–968 (2020).
- 161. Page, C. & Pitchford, S. Neutrophil and platelet complexes and their relevance to neutrophil recruitment and activation. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **17**, 1176–1184 (2013).
- 162. Cleary, S. J. *et al.* LPS-induced Lung Platelet Recruitment Occurs Independently from Neutrophils, PSGL-1, and P-Selectin. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **61**, 232–243 (2019).
- 163. Page, M. J. & Pretorius, E. A Champion of Host Defense: A Generic Large-Scale Cause for Platelet Dysfunction and Depletion in Infection. *Semin. Thromb. Hemost.* **46**, 302–319 (2020).
- 164. Stanley, R. G., Ngaiza, J. R., Wambayi, E., Lewis, J. & Doenhoff, M. J. Platelets as an innate defence mechanism against Schistosoma mansoni infections in mice. *Parasite Immunol.* **25**, 467–473 (2003).
- Bakocevic, N. *et al.* CD41 is a reliable identification and activation marker for murine basophils in the steady state and during helminth and malarial infections. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44, 1823–1834 (2014).
- 166. Brilland, B. *et al.* Platelets and IgE: Shaping the Innate Immune Response in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol.* **58**, 194–212 (2020).
- 167. Sharron, M. *et al.* Platelets induce apoptosis during sepsis in a contact-dependent manner that is inhibited by GPIIb/IIIa blockade. *PLoS One* **7**, 1–8 (2012).
- 168. Haribhai, D. *et al.* TGF-β1 along with other platelet contents augments Treg cells to suppress anti-FVIII immune responses in hemophilia A mice. *Blood Adv.* **1**, 139–151 (2016).
- 169. Kim, S. Y. *et al.* CX3CR1-Expressing Myeloid Cells Regulate Host–Helminth Interaction and Lung Inflammation. *Adv. Biol.* **2101078**, 2101078 (2022).
- 170. Neschadim, A. & Branch, D. R. Mouse models for immune-mediated platelet destruction or immune thrombocytopenia (ITP). *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* **2016**, 15.30.1-15.30.13 (2016).

- 171. French, S. L. *et al.* Platelet-derived extracellular vesicles infiltrate and modify the bone marrow during inflammation. *Blood Adv.* **4**, 3011–3023 (2020).
- 172. Tilburg, J., Becker, I. C. & Italiano, J. E. Don't you forget about me(gakaryocytes). *Blood* (2021) doi:10.1182/blood.2020009302.
- 173. Esser-von Bieren, J. *et al.* Antibody-Mediated Trapping of Helminth Larvae Requires CD11b and Fcy Receptor I. *J. Immunol.* **194**, 1154–1163 (2015).
- 174. Grainger, J. R. & Grencis, R. K. Neutrophils worm their way into macrophage long-term memory. *Nat. Immunol.* **15**, 902–904 (2014).
- 175. Silvestre-Roig, C., Fridlender, Z. G., Glogauer, M. & Scapini, P. Neutrophil Diversity in Health and Disease. *Trends Immunol.* **40**, 565–583 (2019).
- 176. Guo, Q. *et al.* Induction of alarmin S100A8/A9 mediates activation of aberrant neutrophils in the pathogenesis of COVID-19. *Cell Host Microbe* **29**, 222-235.e4 (2021).
- 177. Takizawa, S., Murao, A., Ochani, M., Aziz, M. & Wang, P. Frontline Science: Extracellular CIRP generates a proinflammatory Ly6G+CD11bhi subset of low-density neutrophils in sepsis. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **109**, 1019–1032 (2021).
- Carestia, A. *et al.* Mediators and molecular pathways involved in the regulation of neutrophil extracellular trap formation mediated by activated platelets. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **99**, 153–162 (2016).
- 179. Suzuki-Inoue, K., Osada, M. & Ozaki, Y. Physiologic and pathophysiologic roles of interaction between C-type lectin-like receptor 2 and podoplanin: partners from in utero to adulthood. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **15**, 219–229 (2017).
- 180. Kamel, M. M., Fouad, S. A. & Basyoni, M. M. A. P Selectins and immunological profiles in HCV and Schistosoma mansoni induced chronic liver disease. *BMC Gastroenterol.* **14**, 1–9 (2014).
- 181. Chauhan, A. *et al.* The platelet receptor CLEC-2 blocks neutrophil mediated hepatic recovery in acetaminophen induced acute liver failure. *Nat. Commun.* **11**, 1–12 (2020).
- 182. Shan, Z. *et al.* Chitinase 3-like-1 contributes to acetaminophen-induced liver injury by promoting hepatic platelet recruitment. *Elife* **10**, 1–43 (2021).
- 183. Lowe, K. L. *et al.* The expression of mouse CLEC-2 on leucocyte subsets varies according to their anatomical location and inflammatory state. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **45**, 2484–2493 (2015).
- Joseph, M., Auriault, C., Capron, A., Vorng, H. & Viens, P. A new function for platelets: IgEdependent killing of schistosomes. *Nature* vol. 303 810–812 (1983).
- 185. Zhou, H. *et al.* Platelet HMGB1 is required for efficient bacterial clearance in intra-abdominal bacterial sepsis in mice. *Blood Adv.* **2**, 638–648 (2018).
- 186. Van Ginderachter, J. A., Beschin, A., Baetselier, P. De & Raes, G. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in parasitic infections. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **40**, 2976–2985 (2010).
- 187. Palankar, R. *et al.* Platelets kill bacteria by bridging innate and adaptive immunity via platelet factor 4 and FcγRIIA. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **16**, 1187–1197 (2018).
- 188. Arnold, S. *et al.* Red Blood Cells Elicit Platelet-Dependent Neutrophil Recruitment Into Lung Airspaces. *Shock* **56**, 278–286 (2021).
- 189. Chen, F. *et al.* B Cells Produce the Tissue-Protective Protein RELMα during Helminth Infection, which Inhibits IL-17 Expression and Limits Emphysema. *Cell Rep.* **25**, 2775-2783.e3 (2018).

- 190. Van Der Heyde, H. C., Gramaglia, I., Sun, G. & Woods, C. Platelet depletion by anti-CD41 (αllb) mAb injection early but not late in the course of disease protects against Plasmodium berghei pathogenesis by altering the levels of pathogenic cytokines. *Blood* **105**, 1956–1963 (2005).
- 191. Fu, G., Deng, M., Neal, M. D., Billiar, T. R. & Scott, M. J. Platelet-Monocyte Aggregates: Understanding Mechanisms and Functions in Sepsis. *Shock* **55**, 156–166 (2021).